Aus der Laser-Immunologie-Forschungs-Einrichtung (LIFE-Zentrum) an der Urologischen Klinik und Poliklinik

Klinik der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Bereichsleitung: Prof. Dr. rer. biol. hum. Ronald Sroka

In-vitro investigation of the impact of methadone on 5-ALA-PDT

Dissertation zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Humanbiologie

an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

vorgelegt von

Lei SHI

aus

Chongqing, China

2021

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Ronald Sroka
Mitberichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Max Schlaak PD Dr. Markus Moser
Mitbetreuung durch den promovierten Mitarbeiter:	Dr. Herbert Stepp PD Dr. Heike Pohla
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. med. Thomas Gudermann
Tag der mündlichen Prüfung:	16.11.2021

Table of Contents

Publications list
Oral presentation at the conference
Abstract
Abstract (German)
Introduction
The mechanism of 5-ALA-PDT7
The application and efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for SCC and glioma
Methods to improve the efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT9
Pain is the main side effect of 5-ALA-PDT10
Methadone is a strong analgesic and a potentiating agent11
Potential of methadone for 5-ALA-PDT12
Potential mechanism for promoting the 5-ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis12
Conclusion and outlook13
Contribution and declaration14
Publication I15
Publication II
References
Abbreviations
Acknowledgments
Eidesstattliche Versicherung

PUBLICATIONS LIST

- Shi Lei, Buchner Alexander, Pohla Heike, Pongratz Thoma, Rühm Adrian, Zimmermann Wolfgang, Gederaas A Odrun, Zhang Linglin, Wang Xiuli, Stepp Herbert*, Sroka Ronald*. *Methadone enhances the effectiveness of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy for squamous cell carcinoma and glioblastoma in vitro*. J Biophotonics. 2019, 29:e201800468. JIF: 3.768
- Shi Lei, Heike Pohla, Alexander Buchner, Linglin Zhang, Thomas Pongratz, Adrian Rühm, Wolfgang Zimmermann, Odrun Arna Gederaas, Xiuli Wang, Herbert Stepp*, Ronald Sroka*. MOP-dependent enhancement of methadone on the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for A172 cells by upregulating phosphorylated JNK and BCL2. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2020 Jan 13:101657. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2020.101657. JIF: 2.589

ORAL PRESENTATIONS IN CONFERENCES

- Lei Shi, Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles enhanced the effectiveness of topical PDT for squamous cell carcinoma. Jun 28-Jul 4, 2019, 17th International Photodynamic Association World Congress, Boston, America.
- Lei Shi, Biodegradable polymeric nanoparticles enhanced the effectiveness of topical PDT for squamous cell carcinoma. Mar 7-8, 2019, 18 Annual Congress of the European Society for Photodynamic Therapy in Dermatology, Brussel, Belguimm.
- Lei Shi, *Application and development of PDT in China*. Sep 18-22, 2018, Photodynamic Therapy and Photodiagnosis Update 2018, Munich, Germany.
- Lei Shi, Laser immunotherapy for cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma with optimal thermal effects. Jun 14-16, 2018, 2nd Global Summit & Expo on Laser Optics& Photonics, Roma, Italy.
- Lei Shi, *PDT for genital warts, where do we stand?* Sep 13-17, 2017, 26th EADV Congress, Geneve, Switzerland.
- Lei Shi, ALA-PDT for the Treatment of Vulvar Lichen Sclerosus. Jun 8-13, 2017, 16th IPA world congress, Coimbra, Portugal.
- Lei Shi, Successful treatment of cutaneous granuloma caused by Candida guilliermondii using in situ photoimmunotherapy. Oct 14-18, 2016, International Conferences on Laser Applications in Life Sciences (LALS2016), Shenzhen, China.

ABSTRACT

Background: 5-Aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (5-ALA-PDT) is an effective treatment for superficial skin tumors. However, its effectiveness for malignant squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and glioblastoma (GBM) remain to be improved. In addition, the pain during PDT especially in skin tumors is an important limitation for using 5-ALA-PDT in dermatology. Recent investigations hypothesize that D, L-methadone (MTD) as an analgesic might also suppress the growth of various cancers by increasing their susceptibility to apoptosis. The aims of the presented two studies were to investigate whether MTD could impact the efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for SCC and GBM *in vitro* and to explore the mechanism of MTD on 5-ALA-PDT.

Methods: The cell lines FADU (SCC) and A172 (GBM) were treated by 5-ALA-PDT with 0.01 mg/mL MTD for three days. The irradiation was carried out by means of a diode laser emitting at 635 nm at an irradiance of 100 mW/cm² for various light doses (irradiations). After defining the specific 5-ALA concentration and light dose to induce around 25% tumor cell death, protoporphyrin IX (PpIX) fluorescence, survival rates, apoptosis rates, and cell cycle phase were investigated to evaluate the effect with and without the presence of MTD. To explore the mechanism, flow cytometry was used to determine the expression of μ -opioid receptor (MOR), phosphorylation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and phosphorylation of B-cell lymphoma 2 (BCL-2). The naloxone, as an antagonist, was also used to investigate the role of MOR in this process.

Results: In the absence of MTD, FADU cells reached a 75% survival after incubation with 0.5 mM 5-ALA for twenty-four hours and illumination for 1 J/cm². For A172 cells, treatment with 1mM 5-ALA incubated for twenty-four hours and an illumination of 2 J/cm² resulted in a 75% survival. PpIX formation in both cell lines was only influenced marginally by MTD. The combination of MTD successfully enhanced the inhibition of 5-ALA-PDT for both tumor cell lines (p < 0.05). The effect of MTD was enhanced with the incubation time. MTD increased the apoptotic rate of FADU cells treated by 5-ALA-PDT from 20.6%±0.6% to 53.2%±1.6% and that of A172 cells from 22.8%±1.9% to 45.3%±2.2% (p<0.05). The 5-ALA-PDT-induced cell cycle phase arrest in the G0/G1 phase on tumor cells was also improved by MTD (p<0.05). It was found that A172 cells expressed MOR on the cell membrane. Except for apoptosis, the activity of JNK and expression of phosphorylated BCL-2 induced by 5-ALA-PDT were also enhanced by the combination of MTD (p<0.05). The abovementioned MTD effects were reversed by the use of naloxone (p<0.05).

Conclusion: MTD significantly enhanced the inhibition of 5-ALA-PDT for tumor cells through the activation of the JNK pathway and phosphorylated BCL-2. These effects of MTD was MOR-

dependent. This study provides a theoretical basis using the MTD in the clinic to improve the efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for SCC and GBM and to reduce the 5-ALA-PDT induced pain simultaneously. However, prior to translation into the clinic, clinical studies have to be performed to determine a suitable MTD concentration and protocol inducing an improved therapeutic effect and reduced possible side effects.

ABSTRACT (GERMAN)

Hintergrund: Die photodynamische Therapie auf Basis von 5-Aminolävulinsäure (5-ALA-PDT) ist eine wirksame Behandlung für oberflächliche Hauttumoren. Die Wirksamkeit bei malignen Plattenepithelkarzinomen (SCC) und Glioblastomen (GBM) könnte jedoch weiterhin verbessert werden. Darüber hinaus ist das Schmerzempfinden während der PDT, insbesondere bei Hauttumoren, eine starke Einschränkung für diese Behandlungsform. Jüngste Untersuchungen zeigen, dass D, L-Methadon (MTD) als Analgetikum auch das Wachstum verschiedener Krebsarten unterdrücken könnte, indem es deren Anfälligkeit für Apoptose erhöht. Ziel der vorliegenden beiden Studien war es zu untersuchen, ob MTD die Wirksamkeit von 5-ALA-PDT bei SCC und GBM in vitro beeinflussen kann, und den Mechanismus von MTD bei 5-ALA-PDT zu untersuchen.

Methode: Die Zelllinien FADU (SCC) und A172 (GBM) wurden drei Tage lang mit 5-ALA-PDT mit 0,01 mg / ml MTD behandelt. Die Bestrahlung wurde mit einem Diodenlaser bei 635 nm bei einer Bestrahlungsstärke von 100 mW / cm² für verschiedene Lichtdosen (Bestrahlungen) durchgeführt. Nach Definition der spezifischen ALA-Konzentration und der Lichtdosis zur Induktion eines Tumorzelltods von etwa 25% wurden die Protoporphyrin IX (PpIX) -Fluoreszenz, die Überlebensraten, die Apoptoseraten und die Zellzyklusphase gemessen, um den Effekt mit und ohne MTD zu bewerten. Um den Mechanismus zu untersuchen, wurde die Expression des μ-Opioidrezeptors (MOR), die Phosphorylierung der c-Jun N-terminalen Kinase (JNK) und die Phosphorylierung des B-Zell-Lymphoms 2 (BCL-2) mittels Durchflusszytometrie bestimmt. Als Kontrolle wurde der MOR-Antagonist Naloxon eingesetzt.

Ergebnisse: In Abwesenheit von MTD wurde für FADU-Zellen nach 24-stündiger Inkubation mit 0.5 mM 5-ALA und 1 J/cm² Beleuchtung ein Überleben von 75% ermittelt. A172-Zellen hingegen wurden für den gleichen Effekt mit 1 mM 5-ALA und 2 J/cm² behandelt. Die PpIX-Bildung in beiden Zelllinien wurde durch MTD nur geringfügig beeinflusst. Die Kombination mit MTD verstärkte erfolgreich die Hemmung von 5-ALA-PDT für beide Tumorzelllinien (p <0.05). Die Wirkung von MTD wurde mit steigender Inkubationszeit verstärkt. MTD erhöhte die apoptotische Rate von mit 5-ALA-PDT behandeltem FADU von 20.6% \pm 0.6% auf 53.2% \pm 1.6% und die von A172-Zellen von 22.8% \pm 1.9% auf 45.3% \pm 2.2% (p <0.05). Der 5-ALA-PDTinduzierte Zellzyklusstillstand in der G0 / G1-Phase der Tumorzellen wurde ebenfalls durch MTD verbessert (p <0.05). A172-Zellen exprimieren MOR auf der Zellmembran. Mit Ausnahme der Apoptose wurden die Aktivität von JNK und die durch 5-ALA-PDT induzierte Expression von phosphoryliertem BCL-2 auch durch die Kombination von MTD erhöht (p <0.05). Die obigen MTD-Effekte wurden durch Verwendung von Naloxon gehemmt (p <0.05).

Schlussfolgerung: Die Methadongabe erhöhte signifikant den Prozentsatz der durch 5-ALA-PDT induzierten Apoptoserate und verbesserte die Wirkung von 5-ALA-PDT auf den Zellzyklusstillstand in der G0/G1-Phase. Ein sicherer Hinweis, dass Methadon zu einer erhöhten Akkumulation von PpIX führt, ergab sich nicht. Der Effekt von Methadon auf die Wirksamkeit von 5-ALA-PDT in A172-Zellen war MOR-abhängig. MTD verstärkte die Aktivierung des JNK-Signalwegs und von phosphoryliertem BCL-2 signifikant in Abhängigkeit von MOR. Die vorliegenden Studien bieten eine theoretische Grundlage für die Verwendung der MTD in der Klinik, um die Wirksamkeit von 5-ALA-PDT bei SCC und GBM zu verbessern und gleichzeitig die durch 5-ALA-PDT verursachtes Schmerzempfinden zu reduzieren. Vor der Übertragung in die Klinik müssen jedoch klinische Studien durchgeführt werden, um eine geeignete MTD-Konzentration und ein geeignetes MTD-Protokoll zu bestimmen, die eine verbesserte therapeutische Wirkung und eine Verringerung möglicher Nebenwirkungen hervorrufen.

INTRODUCTION

This work is presented as a cumulative dissertation and consists of two published original manuscripts [1, 2]. 5-Aminolevulinic acid-mediated photodynamic therapy (5-ALA-PDT) is a relatively novel and minimally invasive modality for the treatment of tumors combining the actions of a photosensitizer, light, and oxygen [3]. In 1990, 5-ALA-PDT was firstly used for the treatment of cutaneous basal cell carcinoma (BCC) in the clinic [4]. In 1999, 5-ALA was developed as the medicine named Levulan[®] by DUSA Pharmaceuticals, Inc with an indication of actinic keratosis (AK) [5]. In 2007, Shanghai Fudan-zhangjiang Bio-Pharmaceutical Co.,Ltd. in China developed another 5-ALA medicine called AILA[®] for the treatment of condyloma acuminate [3]. In 2017, American FDA approved Gleolan[®], another 5-ALA medicine developed by Photonamic GmbH and Co. KG for the intraoperative optical imaging of high-grade gliomas (HGGs) in the brain [6].

The mechanism of 5-ALA-PDT

5-ALA is an endogenous molecule in the body participating in haem biosynthesis [7]. The 5-ALA synthase is a rate-limiting enzyme for 5-ALA synthesis. 5-ALA was synthesized into coproporphyrinogen III firstly. Thereafter, coproporphyrinogen III is converted into protoporphyrin IX (PpIX). PpIX further generates haem under the rate-limiting activity of the enzyme protoporphyrin ferrocheletase. Normally, a haem feedback pathway regulates the enzyme 5-ALA synthase to control the amount of PpIX production. As 5-ALA can be administered topically or orally as a medicine, such exogenous 5-ALA can be taken up by the cells and bypasses the regulatory metabolic steps, resulting in saturation of the ferrochelatase activity and in an increase of PpIX generation [8].

After uptake of excess exogenous 5-ALA, most cells can convert it into PpIX, but this capacity was varying in different tissues and cells [9]. Generally, tumor cells show a more efficient capacity in PpIX production in comparison to non-tumor cells. This is because the activity of porphobilinogen deaminase is up-regulated in most malignant cells [10]. In addition, the activity of ferrochelatase in most malignant cells is inhibited resulting in a low effectiveness of haem formation [11]. It was proposed that the PpIX generation was mainly related to the ratio of porphobilinogen deaminase to ferrochelatase activity thus related to cell photosensitivity [12]. In addition, tumor cells usually accumulate more PpIX than normal cells partly because of the increased cellular metabolism, promoted 5-ALA uptake and attenuated PpIX elimination [11-13]. PpIX is the real substance that works as the photosensitizer in the 5-ALA-PDT. Under illumination the energy of photons is absorbed by the PpIX molecule and transferred to surrounding oxygen. The oxygen accepts the energy and changes into singlet oxygen and reactive oxygen species (ROS) which itself

can oxidize and damage the adjacent biomolecules, mitochondria, cell membrane and other organelles [14-16]. The above oxidative damage is the main mechanism of 5-ALA-PDT that further induces cell deaths. Except the direct killing for the tumor cells, 5-ALA-PDT exerts the anti-tumor effect also through the upregulation of various cytokines which related to anti-tumor immune responses, such as C-C motif chemokine ligand 8 (CCL-8), interleukin (IL)-1- β , chemokine C-X-C motif ligand 13 (CXCL13) and so on [17-20].

The application and efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for squamous cell carcinoma and glioblastoma

Clinically, 5-ALA-PDT shows a lot of advantageous characters, such as allowing repetitive treatments to the same lesion, one-time treatment to the multiple lesions, minimally-invasive, the good restoring of structures and functions [21]. It is a common treatment for some premalignant and malignant diseases, such as AK, BCC, Barrett's esophagus, and bladder cancer in the clinic [16, 22-25]. 5-ALA-PDT is effective for the treatment of shallow cutaneous tumors while its efficacy for some malignant tumors remains to be improved, such as cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and glioblastoma (GBM) [26-28].

SCC is the second most common skin cancer [29]. Importantly, it may spread, or metastasize, to other parts of body and ultimately lead to death [30]. Surgery is the first-line treatment for SCC, although various treatments like radiation are used in the clinic [31]. All conventional therapies have the significant challenges when treating large, metastatic, and invasive SCC [32, 33]. The efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for SCC is not as good as for the 5-ALA-treatment of AK. A few clinical case reports showed 5-ALA-PDT is effective for the superficial SCC. Complete response of 5-ALA-PDT for superficial SCC was reported as 54% with a recurrence rate of 69% [34]. Xiuli Wang et al. successfully used 5-ALA-PDT to cure seven low grade of superficial SCC with a good cosmetic result [28]. However, for the Grade III~IV of SCC the effect of 5-ALA-PDT was poor. To improve the efficacy for SCC, surgery was sometimes performed before 5-ALA-PDT. After the incision, 5-ALA-PDT might play a role in enhancing the efficacy and improving the cosmetic results [35]. Compared to 5-ALA-PDT alone, surgery combined with 5-ALA-PDT improve the efficacy for SCC. However, the recurrence rate of SCC after this combination therapy is still very high [36]. In the mouse experiment, the result also shows 5-ALA-PDT has a poor effect for the large SCC [37]. The insufficient effectiveness for invasive growing or large SCC limits the application of 5-ALA-PDT [38, 39].

GBM is one of the most frequent and aggressive brain cancers. A brain glioma can cause headaches, vomiting, seizures, memory loss and other cranial nerve disorders [40]. The standard treatment for glioma includes the neurosurgical resection and radiotherapy followed by adjuvant chemotherapy. However, GBM usually has a poor prognosis because of its strong aggressiveness and resistance to the treatments [41, 42]. 5-ALA is initially used as an imaging agent for fluorescence-guided surgical resection for GBM based on its high tumor selectivity [6]. Nevertheless, despite the application of fluorescence guided surgery by 5-ALA, the tumors will inevitably recur. To further prolong the survival of the patient, 5-ALA-PDT is presently under investigation for the treatment of GBM [43]. A few *in vitro* studies indicated that 5-ALA-PDT is an effective modality for the inhibition of the proliferation of GBM cells and GBM stem-like cells [44-48]. The study show PDT-induced necrosis is the main pathway for the inhibition. The receptor-interacting protein 3 (RIP3) is a key mediator of this 5-ALA-PDT induced glioma cell necrosis activated by singlet oxygen [49]. 5-ALA-PDT also can induce the tumor cells to upregulate proinflammatory cytokines and activating anti-tumor immune responses [50].

In the clinic, interstitial PDT (iPDT) is developed to treat GBM in the brain. IPDT is performed by using a stereotactic approach and by insertion of the diffusors of optical fibres into the treatment volume in order to achieve whole tumor volume illumination after oral administration of 5-ALA [51]. The therapeutic effect of 5-ALA-PDT is restrained by the depth of light penetration [26, 52, 53]. After careful treatment planning up to eight diffusors are simultaneously activated to cover the tumor volume with suitable amount of light. Recent studies suggest a relatively advantage of 5-ALA-PDT in improving the survival of GBM patients in comparison to the surgery [54]. It was demonstrated that after 5-ALA-PDT, the median survival of newly diagnosed GBM was 16.1 months when that of the recurrent GBM was 10.3 months [55]. Tumor cells out of the effective therapeutic volume of 5-ALA-PDT are illuminated with less light and may survive after the treatment of 5-ALA-PDT, leading to a poor result for large GBM.

In general, the efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for deep or large tumors is limited. The treatment of large volume of SCC or GBM using current 5-ALA-PDT only is challenging [27, 56]. As a result, treatments by means of 5-ALA-PDT needs to be improved to enhance its efficacy for SCC and GBM [16, 57].

Methods to improve the efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT

To improve the efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for SCC, calcitriol was used to pretreat the tumor before 5-ALA-PDT. Cell and mouse experiments showed that calcitriol can enhance the anti-tumor effect of 5-ALA-PDT via promoting the tumor-specific accumulation of 5-ALA induced PpIX [58, 59]. Calcitriol increases the PpIX production by increasing the porphyrin synthesis enzymes coproporphyrinogen oxidase [58]. Gefitinib, an EGFR inhibitor is also found to enhance the efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for GBM through increasing PpIX production. The increase of PpIX production induced by Gefitinib is mediated by decreasing the expression of ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily G Member 2 (ABCG2) [60]. Other sensitizing medicines, such as imiquimod the iron chelator deferoxamine, and metformin also show the abilities to enhance the efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for some specific cancers [57, 60-65]. The nanoparticle technique demonstrates the effect in the enhancement of the accumulation of 5-ALA in GBM and SCC cells, leading to a high level of PpIX production and reinforced effectiveness [15, 24, 66]. However, the sensitizing effect of the above methods has not been proven clinically.

Pain limits the application of 5-ALA-PDT

The pain sensation as the main adverse response limits greatly the application of 5-ALA-PDT in the clinic, especially in dermatology [38, 67]. During the illumination, patients suffer from varying degrees of pain sensations [68]. Usually, if the pain may reach to an intolerable degree during the illumination this results in the interruption of the 5-ALA-PDT [69, 70] Even, the patient may refuse the forthcoming treatment of this excruciating pain. Although, the exact mechanism of the pain induced by irradiation of 5-ALA-PDT remains unclear, it is widely accepted that ROS generated during irradiation is the main contributor for the pain [38].

To reduce the pain during 5-ALA-PDT, various pain management modalities are clinically under investigation. Topical anesthesia was used for pain relief during 5-ALA-PDT, but a clinical trial showed it was insufficient to control the 5-ALA-PDT pain [71]. Anecdotal evidence suggests that local infiltration anesthesia and cold-air analgesia can reduce the 5-ALA-PDT pain to a certain extent [72, 73]. However, the analgesic effects of the above two methods are limited and are appropriate for mild or moderate pain relief [74]. The nerve block is demonstrated to be an effective pain management during 5-ALA-PDT, especially for patients with extensive lesions [69, 70, 75]. The inhalation analgesia with a nitrous oxide/oxygen mixture is also demonstrated to be an effective and well-tolerated method for achieving significant pain reduction during 5-ALA-PDT [76, 77]. However, neither the nerve block nor the inhalation analgesia is an easy option that can be performed for every patient. Daylight-PDT, as a novel PDT protocol, showed to be less painful than conventional PDT [78, 79]. It successfully reduces the 5-ALA-PDT pain by shortening the drug-light interval and using daylight instead of technical red light. In recent years, it is found that using a low power density, a short drug-light interval or a two-step irradiance protocol contributes to reduction of the 5-ALA-PDT related pain [80-83]. The short-term efficacy PDT-treatment outcomes of above painless modality are similar to those of conventional PDT. However, additional studies are required to clarify the long-term efficacy of those novel treatment concepts [82]. Oral analgesia is another potential effective method for the relief of 5-ALA-PDT induced pain. The three-step analgesic ladder established by the World Health Organization is used to relieve the cancer pain in the clinic, including the pain developed by the treatment [84]. However, the non-opioids analgesics and weak opioids, such as acetaminophen, oxycodone, and tramadol

used in clinics for the alleviation of 5-ALA-PDT related pain does not achieve a satisfied effect [68, 69, 80]. A more potent analgesic is required for the alleviation of 5-ALA-PDT induced pain.

MTD is a strong analgesic and a potentiating agent

MTD is a strong long-acting opioid receptor agonist. It belongs to the level III opioid medicine which owns a high affinity binding to the mu opioid receptor (MOR) [85]. It is a racemic mixture of 2 enantiomers including R-MTD and S-MTD. After the administration, MTD is widely distributed throughout the body and shows a long half-life of 24 hours [86]. In most cases, MTD can reduce cancer-related pain from moderate or severe to mild or no pain [87]. MTD and its metabolites are finally excreted from the body by liver and kidney. The main adverse events with MTD includes sleepiness, nausea, antidiuresis, constipation, hypotension, and exacerbation of asthma [87]. Compared to other level III opioid drugs, MTD dosn't have to rotate to other opioids frequently because of reduced drug resistance phenomenon [88]. In addition, withdrawals and deaths with MTD are also less than with other level III opioid drugs [89]. Nowadays, MTD is extensively used as a safe and efficient analgesic for the cancer pain [90, 91].

Recently, it is claimed that MTD shows the potency to enhance the efficacy of doxorubicin or cisplatin for the inhibition of GBM, leukemia, prostate cancer, bladder cancer and so on [89, 92-97]. Friesen et al. reported that MTD sensitize the inhibition of doxorubicin for leukemia tumor cells and GBM A172 cells significantly [96, 98]. Stadlbauer et al. also found a synergistic inhibition of MTD with doxorubicin for GBM and prostate carcinoma cell lines [95]. It is found that the potentiating effect of MTD for the chemotherapeutic drugs is possibly dependent on the drug and on the cell line used [99]. The reported mechanisms of potentiating effect of MTD for the chemotherapy of tumor include:

1 After binding to MOR, MTD inhibits adenylyl cyclase resulting in down regulation of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) [100]. The down-regulation of cAMP, which is a second messenger, participates in the potentiating effect of MTD for the apoptosis of tumor cells treated by doxorubicin [93, 96].

2 MTD can also promote the tumor cell apoptosis via up-regulating 9 caspase-3 and caspase, down-regulating of X chromosome–linked inhibitor and B-cell lymphoma-extra large (BCLxL) [101].

The abovementioned two mechanisms further support the conclusion that MTD can sensitize the inhibition of chemotherapy for tumor cells. However, so far it was only proved that the potentiating effect of MTD exists in chemotherapy induced intrinsic apoptosis [97, 101].

The impact of MTD on 5-ALA-PDT

5-ALA-PDT mainly induces tumor cells death by the apoptosis pathway [50]. Considering its good analgesic and sensitizing effect for chemotherapy, MTD might be used as a potential potentiating agent of 5-ALA-PDT for tumors. An improved 5-ALA-PDT modality with more efficient and less painful is expected to be established based on the combination with MTD.

The question arose whether MTD may have an impact on or can promote the effectiveness of 5-ALA-PDT or not? To answer this question, an *in vitro* study was carried out using SCC and GBM cell lines [1]. The impact of MTD on 5-ALA-PDT for SCC (FADU cell line) and GBM (A172 cell line) was studied by the measurement of PpIX fluorescence (accumulation of PPIX in the cell), cytotoxicity, apoptosis rates, and cell cycle. The results showed the MTD only influenced marginally on the PpIX formation in both cell lines. The cytotoxicity of 5-ALA-PDT for both cell lines were significantly increased in the presence of MTD (p< 0.05). This sensitizing effect of MTD on 5-ALA-PDT for tumor cells was mainly caused by increasing the apoptosis of tumor cells. The 5-ALA-PDT-induced cell cycle phase arrest in the G0/G1 phase on both cell lines was also improved by applying MTD (p<0.05).

Potential mechanism for promoting the 5-ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis

The above mentioned study demonstrates the ability of MTD to promote the 5-ALA-PDTinduced apoptosis of both SCC and GBM cell lines. However, the mechanism of MTD remains unclear. Because the apoptosis was the main death route, it was speculated that MTD might act on a conjunct signal pathway that promotes the apoptosis affected by both MTD application and 5-ALA-PDT. The JNK activity pathway, also known as stress-activated protein kinase pathway (SAPK) is the main cellular response to various stress, such as ROS, γ -irradiation, ultraviolet, mechanical stress, anticancer chemotherapy drugs and so on [102, 103]. It was proved that 5-ALA-PDT can activate JNK pathway participating in the apoptosis of tumor cells [104-107]. Meanwhile, the activated MOR was also reported to show the ability to initiate JNK pathway [108, 109]. MTD is a strong agonist of MOR. Therefore, it is deserved to explore whether JNK pathway contributes to the potentiating effect of the MTD on 5-ALA-PDT for tumor cells.

JNK pathway can further induce BCL-2 phosphorylation and inactivate the ability of BCL-2 for the suppression of apoptosis [110]. Dephosphorylated BCL-2 is an oncoprotein with an ability to inhibit tumor cells apoptosis [111]. Whereas, the impact of phosphorylated BCL-2 on the regulation of apoptosis is still uncertain and conflicting [112]. The phosphorylated BCL-2 activated by the growth factor or nicotine showed the ability to inhibit the tumor cells apoptosis and resist the chemotherapy [113-115]. BCL-2 phosphorylation was reported as an element for full BCL-2 death suppressor signaling activity [116]. However, phosphorylated BCL-2 activated by paclitaxel showed a converse ability to promote apoptosis in several tumor cell lines indicating phosphorylation [117-121]. Importantly, the phosphorylated BCL-2 activated by hypericin mediated PDT was also found to exert the function to promote the tumor cells apoptosis [107].

In this thesis, the results show MTD as a MOR agonist has an ability to up-regulate the activated JNK and phosphorylated BCL-2 treated by 5-ALA-PDT on tumor cells (p<0.05). The phosphorylated BCL-2 in this thesis induced by MTD plus 5-ALA-PDT shows an ability to promote the apoptosis of tumor cells [2]. Naloxone, a MOR antagonist, mostly inhibits the above potentiating effects of MTD on 5-ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis and the phosphorylation of JNK and BCL-2 (p<0.05). The 5-ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis has a positive correlation with the expression of phosphorylated JNK and BCL-2. It implies that 5-ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis can be enhanced by the combination with MTD, mostly through the MOR-mediated upregulation of phosphorylated JNK and BCL-2.

Conclusion and outlook

The efficacy of 5-ALA-PDT for some malignant tumors needs to be enhanced. In addition, the pain sensation is the main side effect of 5-ALA-PDT. In this study, MTD as a strong analgesic was proven to simultaneously increase the cytotoxicity of 5-ALA-PDT to SCC and GBM tumor cells mainly through the apoptosis pathways [1]. The 5-ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis is enhanced by MTD mainly in a MOR-dependent manner through the phosphorylation of JNK and BCL-2 [2]. This study provides a theoretical basis using MTD to improve the effectiveness of 5-ALA-PDT for SCC and GBM and to reduce the 5-ALA-PDT induced pain sensation simultaneously in clinical application. This combination also shows a promising future for the treatment of SCC, glioblastoma, and possibly also basal cell carcinoma, prostate cancer and so on. Potentially, MTD may also improve the effectiveness of other photosensitizer-mediated PDT for tumors. If the combination therapy of MTD plus 5-ALA-PDT would be successfully translated to clinical application, it will solve the existing pain problem of 5-ALA-PDT and additionally enhance its efficacy. Prior to that, more animal and clinical studies need to be done to clarify the efficacy and safety of MTD. The suitable concentration and protocol for the application of MTD also need to be investigated for the patient in the clinic. The expression of MOR on tumor cells may impact the effectiveness of MTD, so that the effectiveness might be limited in tumors that express less MOR. Although 5-ALA-PDT induced apoptosis has a positive correlation with the up-regulation of phosphorylated JNK and BCL-2, further inhibition experiments should be carried out to investigate the importance of phosphorylated JNK and BCL-2 for the MTD related effect.

Contribution and declaration

Doctoral candidate Lei Shi undertook most of the work in this research under the guidance of Prof. Dr. Ronald Sroka, Dr. Herbert Stepp and PD Dr. Heike Pohla. The main contributions of Lei Shi include assisting in the design of experiments, conducting the experiments and experimental evaluation, incl. data acquisition, data analysis and statistics, and drafting the research papers. The above studies were published as two original articles. Doctoral candidate Lei Shi is the first author of the following two published articles. The co-authors signed the "Cumulative Thesis" form and agreed to PhD student Lei Shi to use the following publications to obtain the doctoral degree in human biology. All authors confirm that the publications will not be used as part of another dissertation.

• Shi Lei, Buchner Alexander, Pohla Heike, Pongratz Thoma, Rühm Adrian, Zimmermann Wolfgang, Gederaas A Odrun, Zhang Linglin, Wang Xiuli, Stepp Herbert, Sroka Ronald. Methadone enhances the effectiveness of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy for squamous cell carcinoma and glioblastoma in vitro. J Biophotonics. 2019, 29:e201800468. JIF: 3.768

• Shi Lei, Heike Pohla, Alexander Buchner, Linglin Zhang, Thomas Pongratz, Adrian Rühm, Wolfgang Zimmermann, Odrun Arna Gederaas, Xiuli Wang, Stepp Herbert, Sroka Ronald. MOP-dependent enhancement of methadone on the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for A172 cells by upregulating phosphorylated JNK and BCL2. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2020 Jan 13:101657. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2020.101657. JIF: 2.589

PUBLICATION I

Methadone enhances the effectiveness of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy for squamous cell carcinoma and glioblastoma in vitro

Shi Lei, Buchner Alexander, Pohla Heike, Pongratz Thoma, Rühm Adrian, Zimmermann Wolfgang, Gederaas A Odrun, Zhang Linglin, Wang Xiuli, Stepp Herbert, Sroka Ronald. J Biophotonics. 2019, 29:e201800468. JIF: 3.768

Short version:

The efficacy of 5-aminolevulinic acid - photodynamic therapy (5-ALA-PDT) for squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and glioblastoma remains to be improved. The analgesic drug methadone is able to sensitize various tumors to chemotherapy. In this in-vitro study, the influence of methadone to the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for SCC (FADU) and glioblastoma (A172) was investigated regarding protoporphyrin IX (PpIX) fluorescence (accumulation in cell), survival rates, apoptosis, and cell cycle phase, each with or without the presence of methadone. The production of PpIX was increased by methadone in FADU cells while it was decreased in A172 cells. The survival rates of both cell lines treated by 5-ALA-PDT were significantly reduced by the combination with methadone (p<0.05). The percentage of apoptotic cells of both cell lines treated by 5-ALA-PDT was significantly increased if treated with methadone (p<0.05). Methadone also improved the effect of 5-ALA-PDT on the cell cycle phase arrest in the G0/G1 phase (p<0.05). This study demonstrates the potential of methadone to influence the cytotoxic effect of 5-ALA-PDT for both SCC and glioblastoma cell lines.

FULL ARTICLE



Methadone enhances the effectiveness of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy for squamous cell carcinoma and glioblastoma in vitro

Lei Shi^{1,2} | Alexander Buchner^{3,4} | Heike Pohla^{3,4} | Thomas Pongratz^{1,4} | Adrian Rühm^{1,4} | Wolfgang Zimmermann^{3,4} | Odrun A. Gederaas^{5,6} | Linglin Zhang² | Xiuli Wang² | Herbert Stepp^{1,4*} | Ronald Sroka^{1,2,4*}

¹Laser-Forschungslabor, LIFE Center, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany

²Institute of Photomedicine, Shanghai Skin Disease Hospital, Tongji University School of Medicine, Shanghai, People's Republic of China

³Labor für Tumorimmunologie, LIFE Center, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany

⁴Department of Urology, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany

⁵Department of Chemistry, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, NTNU, Trondheim, Norway

⁶Odrun Arna Gederaas, Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, NTNU, Trondheim, Norway

*Correspondence

Ronald Sroka, Laser-Forschungslabor, LIFE Center, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany. Email: ronald.sroka@med.uni-muenchen.de Herbert Stepp, Laser-Forschungslabor, LIFE Center, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany.

Email: herbert.stepp@med.uni-muenchen.de

Funding information

China Scholarship Council; National Natural Science Foundation of China, Grant/Award Number: 81601601

1 | INTRODUCTION

5-Aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT) is well established for the treatment of early stage skin

J. Biophotonics. 2019;12:e201800468. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbio.201800468 www.biophotonics-journal.org

Abstract

Although having shown promising clinical outcomes, the effectiveness of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT) for squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and glioblastoma remains to be improved. The analgesic drug methadone is able to sensitize various tumors to chemo-



therapy. In this in vitro study, the influence of methadone to the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for SCC (FADU) and glioblastoma (A172) was investigated on the protoporphyrin IX (PpIX) fluorescence, survival rates, apoptosis, and cell cycle phase, each with or without the presence of methadone. The production of PpIX was increased by methadone in FADU cells while it was decreased in A172 cells. The survival rates of both cell lines treated by ALA-PDT were significantly reduced by the combination with methadone (P < .05). Methadone also significantly increased the percentage of apoptotic cells and improved the effect of ALA-PDT on the cell cycle phase arrest in the G0/G1 phase (P < .05). This study demonstrates the potential of methadone to influence the cytotoxic effect of ALA-PDT for both SCC and glioblastoma cell lines.

KEYWORDS

5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT), apoptosis, cell cycle phase, glioblastoma, methadone, squamous cell carcinoma (SCC)

tumors and is under investigation for the treatment of other cancers [1–3]. After uptake of exogenous ALA, tumor cells synthesize large quantities of intracellular protoporphyrin IX (PpIX). PpIX as a photosensitizer can transfer the energy from

© 2019 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim 1 of 9

2 of 9 JOURNAL OF

light to oxygen, generating reactive oxygen species, which damage or kill tumor cells [4, 5]. In the clinic, ALA-PDT has many advantages such as allowing repetitive application to multiple lesions, non-trauma, excellent cosmetic results and functional recovery at special skin sites [6]. It has been widely applied for the treatment of actinic keratosis, basal cell carcinoma, cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (SCC), glioblastoma and other cancers [7, 8]. However, it is difficult to eliminate invasive SCC or large glioblastoma with ALA-PDT alone [2, 9]. Therefore, the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for SCC and glioblastoma remains to be improved [10, 11].

Pain is the most severe side effect of ALA-PDT on skin tumors. Nowadays, pain is the key limitation for the application of ALA-PDT in dermatology [12]. During PDT irradiation, patients always suffer different levels of pain [13]. Sometimes, due to the severe pain caused by the photodynamic reaction, the irradiation has to be interrupted until a nerve block anesthesia is implemented to relieve the pain [14]. Because of the pain during treatment, some patients frequently move the body to escape the light, resulting in the reduction of irradiance on tumors. Moreover, some patients refuse to accept the next round of PDT just because of pain.

Methadone is a long-acting opioid receptor agonist that has been used extensively as a highly effective and safe medication in the treatment of pain [15]. Some recent studies claim an ability of methadone to sensitize glioblastoma, prostate cancer, leukemia, bladder cancer and other tumors to the treatment of doxorubicin or cisplatin in vitro or in vivo [16–22]. So far, the sensitizing effect of methadone was mainly observed for chemotherapeutic agents where it promoted intrinsic apoptosis [17, 21–23]. Considering its good analgesic effect, combining methadone with ALA-PDT might be a promising treatment modality for tumors. However, the sensitizing effect of methadone on ALA-PDT for SCC or glioblastoma remains to be clarified.

This study was performed to investigate, whether the in vitro effectiveness of ALA-PDT for SCC and glioblastoma is affected when applied in combination with methadone.

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Cell incubation

FADU cells were originally obtained from the Deutsche Managementsystem Zertifizierungsgesellschaft. A172-cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection. Both cell lines were cultured in DMEM medium (Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Biochrom AG, Germany), penicillin (100 IU/mL), streptomycin (100 μ g/mL) and 1% MEM non-essential amino acids solution (Gibco; Thermo Fisher Scientific).

2.2 | Photodynamic therapy

ALA (Fagron GmbH & Co. KG, Barsbüttel, Germany) stock solutions were freshly prepared in serum free medium each time. Cells were incubated in serum free medium containing ALA for 24 hours. Cells were irradiated with laser light delivered by a fiber (core diameter: 600 μ m) with custommade projection optics connected to a 635 nm Ceralas diode laser (CeramOptec GmbH, Bonn, Germany) at irradiation of 100 mW/cm² irradiance in a temperature stabilized ($T = 37^{\circ}$ C) light tight box [24].

2.3 | Measurement of cytotoxicity

The cytotoxicity was assessed based on survival rates as determined at 24 hours after irradiation by the Cell Counting Kit-8 (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Schnelldorf, Germany) assay. Initially the measurement of cytotoxicity was used to determine a sublethal treatment parameter set of ALA-PDT alone, used to achieve around 25% killing of cells, by means of different ALA and light parameters. Then, to investigate the impact of methadone on ALA-PDT, the cytotoxicity of different treatment protocols as indicated in Table 1 was investigated. All experiments in this study were performed in triplicates and biologically repeated three times.

2.4 | Methadone incubation scheme

To investigate the effect of methadone on ALA-PDTinduced cytotoxicity, cells were treated with $10 \ \mu g/mL$ D, Lmethadone (Sanofi-Aventis Deutschland GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany) for 3 days (Figure 1). To find the optimal timing of methadone treatment, incubation with methadone for 3 days in the whole ALA-PDT period was further compared with incubation for 2 days before irradiation and/or for 1 day after irradiation. The detailed incubation and irradiation scheme is depicted in Figure 1.

2.5 | Uptake of ALA to induce PpIX fluorescence

The production of PpIX fluorescence in each group was measured using a flow cytometer (FACSCalibur, Becton Dickinson Heidelberg, Germany). PpIX fluorescence was induced by a $\lambda = 635$ nm red diode laser and measured in the FL3 photomultiplier tube (670-nm long pass filter) of the flow cytometer [25]. The mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of PpIX fluorescence was calculated using a specified software (FlowJo v10 Workspace, FlowJo LLC, Oregon).

SHI ET AL.	TAL JOUR						RNAL OF 3 of 9	
TABLE 1	Groups of in vi	tro experiments						
	Control groups					Treatment group		
Application	Untreated control	Methadone only	ALA only	ALA plus methadone	Light only	Methadone plus light	ALA-PDT	ALA-PDT plus methadone
ALA	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	+

+

Abbreviations: ALA, 5-aminolevulinic acid; ALA-PDT, 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy.



+

+

+

FIGURE 1 The flow chart of the experiment to find the optimal timing of methadone treatment

Methadone Light

2.6 | Apoptosis rate

The tumor cells were collected from 24-well plate into flow cytometry tubes at 24 hours after irradiation. Then, cells were washed with 1 mL PBS twice and re-suspended in 200 μ L of Annexin V buffer with 5 μ L Annexin V-FITC and 5 μ L 7-AAD (BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) for 20 minutes. The apoptotic rate was determined by flow cytometry. The Annexin V-positive cells were acknowledged as apoptotic cells.

2.7 | Determination of cell cycle phase

Tumor cells were harvested as mentioned in the Apoptosis Rate section. Cells were fixed in icecold 70% ethyl alcohol for 4 hours and washed with PBS twice. Then cells were treated with 100 μ L of a 100 μ g/mL ribonuclease solution (Abcam, Berlin, Germany) and 20 μ L 7-AAD (BD Biosciences) for 20 minutes before measurement using flow cytometry [26]. The cycle phase was calculated using a cell cycle analysis software (ModFit LT v3.2; Verity Software House, Inc., Maine).

2.8 | Statistical methods

Statistical tests were performed using SPSS 13.0 software (IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York). Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare the survival rates, PpIX fluorescence signals, apoptosis rates and cell cycle phases between different groups. *P*-values <.05 were considered statistically significant.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Parameters for sublethal photodynamic therapy

To find the appropriate treatment parameters for sublethal photodynamic therapy for each cell line separately, which causes approximately 25% cell death remaining sensitive for any enhancement of cytotoxicity by co-incubation with methadone, the survival rates of both cell lines after ALA-PDT using different ALA concentrations and light doses were determined. The results show ALA-PDT killed tumor cells in a dosedependent manner. Generally, a higher ALA concentration or



FIGURE 2 Determination of parameters for sublethal 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT). The survival rates (mean \pm SEM, n = 9) of squamous cell carcinoma FADU cell line (A) and glioblastoma A172 cell line (B) following ALA-PDT

light dose led to a lower survival rate as shown in Figure 2. In case of FADU the sublethal therapy of $76.8\% \pm 0.8\%$ (mean \pm SEM) of survived FADU cells can be induced by incubation with 0.5 mM ALA and an irradiation of 1 J/cm². For A172 cells, a similar mean survival rate of $76.8\% \pm 0.5\%$ was measured when incubated with 1 mM ALA and irradiated with 2 J/cm². Therefore, these parameters were used for further experiments to investigate the impact of methadone.

3.2 | Influence of methadone on ALAmediated PpIX accumulation

As sketched in Figure 1, cells were incubated with $10 \ \mu g/mL$ D, L-methadone for 2 days for the determination of

PpIX fluorescence before irradiation. Based on the specific treatment parameters to achieve sublethal PDT, FADU cells were incubated with 0.5 mM ALA, while A172 cells were incubated with 1 mM ALA, for 24 hours each. In all cases, the PpIX fluorescence histograms showed a single, relatively narrow peak, justifying the use of MFI as a quantitative measure of cellular PpIX content. As shown in Figure 3, with the FADU cell line, the MFI of PpIX fluorescence (MFI_{ALA} + MET = 172.1 ± 1.1 a.u.) in the ALA plus methadone group was slightly higher than that in the ALA only group (MFI_{ALA} = 145.4 ± 0.6 a.u.). However, with the A172 the PpIX fluorescence intensity in the ALA plus methadone group (MFI_{ALA} + MET = 254.1 ± 3.8 a.u.) was slightly lower than in the ALA only group (MFI_{ALA} = 297.2 ± 2.7 a.u.).



FIGURE 3 Methadone influences protoporphyrin IX (PpIX) formation only marginally. FADU cells (A and C) and A172 cells (B and D) were incubated for 24 h with 5-aminolevulinic acid (ALA) in the presence or absence of methadone. Representative histograms (A, B) and mean PpIX mean fluorescence intensity (\pm SEM) (C, D) are shown (n = 9). **P* < .05



FIGURE 4 Methadone enhances 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT)-induced cytotoxicity. FADU (A) and A172 cells (B) were cultured in the presence or absence of methadone for 3 days. Survival rates (mean \pm SEM) were determined 24 h later by the CCK-8 method (n = 9). **P* < .05

3.3 | Methadone effect on ALA-PDT-induced cytotoxicity

FADU and A172 cells were treated as sketched in Table 1. The investigation of FADU cells showed survival rates of all non-PDT groups of around 100% as shown in Figure 4A. However, the survival rate of the ALA-PDT group $(70.6\% \pm 1.7\%)$ was significantly lower compared to the non-PDT groups (P < .05). Compared with the ALA-PDT group a further significant drop in the survival could be observed in the ALA-PDT plus methadone group (35.3% \pm 1.4%; P < .05), indicating that the used methadone application protocol results in enhanced effectivity of ALA-PDT for FADU cells. A similar observation was made during investigation with the A172 cell line (Figure 4B). Of note, a significant increase in A172 cell number was observed in the ALA only $(140.4\% \pm 2.0\%)$, light only (135.3%) \pm 1.9%), ALA plus methadone (138.4% \pm 1.5%) or methadone plus light (134.1% \pm 0.9%) groups (Figure 4B).

The cytotoxicity of different methadone incubation scheme (Figure 1) is shown in Figure 5. It can be derived that methadone application in each time protocol leads to an enhancement of the ALA-PDT effect, with the strongest enhancement observed by incubation with methadone for all 3 days.

3.4 | Methadone-related ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis

The relative apoptosis rates by ALA-PDT, ALA-PDT plus methadone (for 3 days) and some control groups are shown in Figure 6. For both FADU cells and A172 cells, the percentage of apoptotic cells after ALA-PDT was remarkably higher compared to that obtained with the control groups. The percentage of apoptotic FADU (mean ± SEM: 53.2% \pm 1.6%) or A172 cells (45.3% \pm 2.2%) in the ALA-PDT plus methadone group was even significantly higher than that in the ALA-PDT groups $(20.6\% \pm 0.6\%$ and 22.8% \pm 1.9%, respectively) (P < .05), indicating methadone related enhancement of ALA-PDT induced apoptotic pathway. For the A172 cell line, it was observed that the percentage of apoptotic cells in the methadone only and the ALA plus methadone groups was significantly higher than in the untreated control group, implying that methadone only might also induce some tumor cell apoptosis.

3.5 | Cell cycle related effect of methadone and ALA-PDT

To investigate whether methadone influences the effect that ALA-PDT exerts on cell cycle phases, the cell cycle phase



FIGURE 5 Methadone application protocol related effects on 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT). FADU cells (A) and A172 cells (B) were cultured in the presence of methadone for 1, 2, or 3 days as indicated in the legends (n = 9). *P < .05; NS: not significant

JOURNAL OF BIOPHOTONICS 6 of 9

(A)

10

Untreated control



104

QI

Methadone only

ALA only





FIGURE 6 Methadone related enhancement of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT)-induced apoptosis. FADU (A, C) and A172 cells (B, D) were cultured in the presence or absence of methadone for 3 days. Representative dot plots and percentage of apoptotic cells (mean \pm SEM, n = 9) are shown. *P < .05

was determined by means of flow cytometry using 7-AAD DNA staining. As shown in Figure 7, for both FADU and A172 cells, ALA-PDT plus methadone significantly

increased the number of cells found in the G0/G1 phase compared to ALA-PDT group (P < .05), methadone only (P < .05) and untreated controls (P < .05) (Figure 7A,C). SHI ET AL



FIGURE 7 Influence of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT) plus methadone on the cell cycle. Representative histograms for FADU (A) and A172 cells (B) are shown. In C and D the percentage of cells in the different cell cycle phases after treatment with methadone, ALA-PDT or ALA-PDT plus methadone for both cell lines are given (n = 9). *P < .05. NS: P > .05

Methadone only or ALA-PDT only show a higher percentage of the number of tumor cells in the G0/G1 phase than untreated controls, though not all differences are significant. These results suggest that methadone and ALA-PDT inhibit the proliferation of tumor cells mainly through G0/G1 phase arrest. This G0/G1 phase arrest was significantly enhanced by the combination of ALA-PDT plus methadone compared to methadone only or ALA-PDT only.

4 | DISCUSSION

So far, none of the known potentiating agents of ALA-PDT contributes to pain alleviation [11, 27, 28]. Methadone, as a long-acting opioid agonist, was found to enhance the toxicity of doxorubicin to tumor cells in vitro by re-enabling apoptosis [21, 29]. In ALA- PDT apoptosis is also an important cell death mechanism [11]. If methadone could enhance the effectiveness of ALA-PDT, an improved protocol based on a combination of ALA-PDT with methadone could be beneficial in the clinic, being less painful and more effective at the same time.

The results of the initial PDT-dose finding study showed that the FADU cell line was slightly more sensitive to ALA-

PDT than the A172 cell line (Figure 2). It is well known that different cancer cell lines respond differently to ALA-PDT. In a cell survival study by Gederaas et al. [30], the A172 cells among a total of four different cell lines tested, showed the lowest cell death rate after ALA-PDT.

Despite the inconsistent effect on PpIX accumulation (Figure 3), methadone enhanced the ALA-PDT induced cytotoxicity in both cell lines quite considerably (Figure 4). This indicates that the increased susceptibility to low dose ALA-PDT induced by co-incubation with methadone is not due to an increased accumulation of PpIX, but might well have been enabled by a methadoneinduced activation of apoptosis pathways as hypothesized in the context of a combination of chemotherapeutic drugs with methadone [29]. The results showed that both methadone incubated before and after irradiation contributed to the enhancement of ALA-PDT (Figure 5). This indicates that irrespective of the time-point of methadone incubation with respect to ALA-PDT, the supporting action of methadone was more pronounced at longer incubation times. As the strongest effect was observed at the longest incubation time, future settings should investigate even longer incubation times. However, this might require a reduction in

8 of 9 JOURNAL OF

methadone concentration to avoid interference with effects induced by methadone alone.

The PpIX distribution in the flow cytometry histograms (Figure 3), although showing a single peak, still shows that cells are containing variable amounts of PpIX. This is similar to a clinical PDT scenario, be it invading glioblastoma cells or deeper lying skin SCC cells, which contain less PpIX or get less light than the average. If methadone could sensitize these cells to undergo apoptosis, which otherwise would not, this promises a clinical benefit.

For A172 cells, it was noted that the survival rate in ALA only, ALA plus methadone, light only or methadone plus light group was higher than in untreated control and the methadone group. The increase of cell proliferation after application of ALA was also reported for the colon adenocarcinoma cell line SW620 [31]. ALA, as an amino acid is a critical component in the body's synthesis of heme, which in turn is a major component of hemoglobin and also an essential component of cytochrome C [32, 33]. A low dosage of exogenous ALA may promote the production of cytochromes C which increases the mitochondrial activity conducive to cell proliferation [34]. With respect to light, the increase of cell proliferation after light application was also observed in epithelial cells [35], fibroblasts [36], and other cell types [37]. A low-dose of light can activate mitochondrial retrograde signaling leading to an upregulated expression of cell proliferation related genes to participate in this stimulation of cell proliferation [38]. However, such stimulated proliferation in the "ALA only" and "light only" groups was only observed with the A172 cell line, not with the FADU cell line. This indicates that these stimulations are cell line specific. It is well known that cells respond differently to low doses of light [39], with the effect ranging from inhibition to well above 20% increase in colony forming units [40], where the exact mechanisms are still under debate [41]. Also for ALA alone, it is plausible that cells may get a growth stimulus by promoted heme synthesis, but it remains unclear, why some do and others not.

The precise mechanism how methadone increases the cytotoxicity of ALA-PDT or chemotherapeutic drugs for tumor cells is still unclear. In this study, methadone significantly increased the apoptosis rates of tumor cells induced by sublethal ALA-PDT (Figure 6). This implies that the sensitizing effect of methadone for ALA-PDT was mainly conveyed by interaction with apoptosis pathways. This is supported by the observation that methadone can activate the intrinsic apoptosis pathway through the activation of caspase-9 and caspase-3 and down-regulation of BCL2L1, (BCL-X), BCL2 and XIAP to induce tumor cell death [17, 23, 29].

In this study, ALA-PDT and methadone alone slightly arrested the tumor cells in the G0/G1 phase to prevent the cells from entering the replicative phase. This effect was improved by the combination of ALA-PDT and methadone (Figure 7). It was reported that ALA-PDT induced the cell cycle phase arrest of tumor cells predominantly by the upregulation of P53 and DNA damage [42, 43]. Both the upregulation of P53 and DNA damage might activate the checkpoints of the cell cycle, leading to the inhibition of tumor cells proliferation [44]. However, the exact mechanism by which methadone influences the cell cycle remains to be investigated.

5 | CONCLUSION

This investigation showed the enhancement of methadone to ALA-PDT by activation of apoptosis pathways and increased cell cycle phase arrest. A clear and consistent evidence that methadone leads to an increased accumulation of PpIX could not be found. The additional interaction of methadone and ALA-PDT should be tested in further cell lines. The exact mechanisms how methadone may influence the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for tumor cells should be investigated.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was supported in part by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81601601) and Chinese Scholarship Council (CSC) National Scholarship. The authors thank Prof. Olivier Gires, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, University Hospital of Munich for supplying the FADU cell line and Birgit Stadlbauer for her excellent support in carrying out the experiments.

AUTHOR BIOGRAPHIES

Please see Supporting Information online.

ORCID

Lei Shi D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1854-0219

REFERENCES

- [1] H. Stepp, W. Stummer, Lasers Surg. Med. 2018, 50, 399.
- [2] H. Stepp, T. Beck, T. Pongratz, T. Meinel, F. W. Kreth, J. Tonn, W. Stummer, J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. Oncol. 2007, 26, 157.
- [3] X. L. Wang, H. W. Wang, M. X. Guo, S. Z. Xu, Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther. 2008, 5(5), 127.
- [4] H. Stepp, R. Waidelich, Aktuelle Urol. 2007, 38, 455.
- [5] L. Shi, X. Wang, F. Zhao, H. Luan, Q. Tu, Z. Huang, H. Wang, H. Wang, Int. J. Nanomedicine 2013, 8, 2669.
- [6] L. Shi, F. Miao, L. L. Zhang, G. L. Zhang, P. R. Wang, J. Ji, X. J. Wang, Z. Huang, H. W. Wang, X. L. Wang, Acta Derm. Venereol. 2016, 96, 684.

SHI ET AL.

- [7] C. A. Morton, H. C. Wulf, R. M. Szeimies, Y. Gilaberte, N. Basset-Seguin, E. Sotiriou, S. Piaserico, R. E. Hunger, S. Baharlou, A. Sidoroff, L. R. Braathen, J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol. Venereol. 2015, 29, 1718.
- [8] X. Wang, L. Shi, Q. Tu, H. Wang, H. Zhang, P. Wang, L. Zhang, Z. Huang, F. Zhao, H. Luan, X. Wang, Int. J. Nanomedicine 2015, 10, 347.
- [9] A. Stratigos, C. Garbe, C. Lebbe, J. Malvehy, V. del Marmol, H. Pehamberger, K. Peris, J. C. Becker, I. Zalaudek, P. Saiag, M. R. Middleton, L. Bastholt, A. Testori, J. J. Grob, *Eur. J. Cancer* 2015, 51, 1989.
- [10] A. Johansson, F. Faber, G. Kniebuhler, H. Stepp, R. Sroka, R. Egensperger, W. Beyer, F. W. Kreth, *Lasers Surg. Med.* 2013, 45, 225.
- [11] A. K. Bhatta, P. Wang, U. Keyal, Z. Zhao, J. Ji, L. Zhu, X. Wang, G. Zhang, *Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther.* 2018, 23, 273.
- [12] B. Wang, L. Shi, Y. F. Zhang, Q. Zhou, J. Zheng, R. M. Szeimies, X. L. Wang, Br. J. Dermatol. 2017, 177, 656.
- [13] N. Huang, J. Zeng, J. Liang, H. Qiu, Y. Wang, Y. Gu, Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther. 2014, 11, 134.
- [14] A. Klein, S. Karrer, C. Horner, A. Werner, J. Heinlin, F. Zeman, M. Koller, M. Landthaler, R. M. Szeimies, M. Gruber, B. Graf, E. Hansen, C. Kerscher, Br. J. Dermatol. 2015, 173, 192.
- [15] S. Mercadante, E. Bruera, J. Pain Symptom Manage. 2018, 55, 998.
- [16] J. Onken, C. Friesen, P. Vajkoczy, M. Misch, Anticancer Res 2017, 37, 1227.
- [17] C. Friesen, I. Hormann, M. Roscher, I. Fichtner, A. Alt, R. Hilger, K. M. Debatin, E. Miltner, *Cell Cycle* 2014, 13, 1560.
- [18] G. Kreye, E. K. Masel, K. Hackner, B. Stich, F. Nauck, Wien. Med. Wochenschr. 2018, 168, 159.
- [19] M. Michalska, A. Katzenwadel, P. Wolf, Front. Pharmacol. 2017, 8, 733.
- [20] B. Stadlbauer, D. Kozian, C. Stief, A. Buchner, J. Urol. 2017, 197, e1114.
- [21] C. Friesen, M. Roscher, I. Hormann, I. Fichtner, A. Alt, R. A. Hilger, K. M. Debatin, E. Miltner, *Oncotarget* 2013, 4, 677.
- [22] M. Michalska, S. Schultze-Seemann, I. Kuckuck, A. Katzenwadel, P. Wolf, Anticancer Res. 2018, 38, 1369.
- [23] C. Friesen, M. Roscher, A. Alt, E. Miltner, *Cancer Res.* 2008, 68, 6059.
- [24] A. Knappe, W. Beyer, R. Riesenberg, P. Schneede, R. Sroka, E. Unsold, G. Valet, *Biomed. Tech. (Berl)* 1995, 40, 272.
- [25] R. Kammerer, A. Buchner, P. Palluch, T. Pongratz, K. Oboukhovskij, W. Beyer, A. Johansson, H. Stepp, R. Baumgartner, W. Zimmermann, *PLoS One* 2011, 6, e21834.

- [26] K. H. Kim, J. M. Sederstrom, Curr. Protoc. Mol. Biol. 2015, 111, 28.6.1.
- [27] K. R. Rollakanti, S. Anand, E. V. Maytin, Cancer Med. 2015, 4, 633.
- [28] W. Wang, K. Tabu, Y. Hagiya, Y. Sugiyama, Y. Kokubu, Y. Murota, S. I. Ogura, T. Taga, *Sci. Rep.* 2017, 7, 42070.
- [29] A. Singh, A. Jayanthan, A. Farran, A. N. Elwi, S. W. Kim, P. Farran, A. Narendran, *Leuk. Res.* 2011, 35, 1649.
- [30] O. A. Gederaas, S. A. Schonberg, S. Ramstad, K. Berg, A. Johnsson, H. E. Krokan, *Photochem. Photobiol. Sci.* 2005, 4, 383.
- [31] M. Wozniak, K. Dus-Szachniewicz, P. Ziolkowski, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2015, 16, 23615.
- [32] F. Al-Saber, W. Aldosari, M. Alselaiti, H. Khalfan, A. Kaladari, G. Khan, G. Harb, R. Rehani, S. Kudo, A. Koda, T. Tanaka, M. Nakajima, A. Darwish, J. Diabetes Res. 2016, 2016, 8294805.
- [33] K. Sato, K. Matsushita, K. Takahashi, M. Aoki, J. Fuziwara, S. Miyanari, T. Kamada, *Poult. Sci.* 2012, 91, 1582.
- [34] S. Mandal, A. G. Lindgren, A. S. Srivastava, A. T. Clark, U. Banerjee, Stem Cells 2011, 29, 486.
- [35] K. Ejiri, A. Aoki, Y. Yamaguchi, M. Ohshima, Y. Izumi, Lasers Med. Sci. 2014, 29, 1339.
- [36] S. M. Ayuk, N. N. Houreld, H. Abrahamse, Lasers Med. Sci. 2018, 33, 1085.
- [37] D. M. Soares, F. Ginani, A. G. Henriques, C. A. Barboza, *Lasers Med. Sci.* 2015, 30, 1171.
- [38] T. I. Karu, Photochem. Photobiol. 2008, 84, 1091.
- [39] R. Sroka, M. Schaffer, C. Fuchs, T. Pongratz, U. Schrader-Reichard, M. Busch, P. M. Schaffer, E. Duhmke, R. Baumgartner, *Lasers Surg. Med.* 1999, 25, 263.
- [40] F. A. Al-Watban, B. L. Andres, Lasers Med. Sci. 2012, 27, 1039.
- [41] L. F. de Freitas, M. R. Hamblin, IEEE J. Sel. Top. Quantum Electron. 2016, 22, 348.
- [42] M. A. M. Abo-Zeid, M. T. Abo-Elfadl, S. M. Mostafa, Photodiagnosis Photodyn. Ther. 2018, 21, 351.
- [43] S. Anand, K. R. Rollakanti, N. Brankov, D. E. Brash, T. Hasan, E. V. Maytin, Mol. Cancer Ther. 2017, 16, 1092.
- [44] G. I. Evan, K. H. Vousden, Nature 2001, 411, 342.

How to cite this article: Shi L, Buchner A, Pohla H, et al. Methadone enhances the effectiveness of 5aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy for squamous cell carcinoma and glioblastoma in vitro. *J. Biophotonics*. 2019;12:e201800468. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1002/jbio.201800468

PUBLICATION II

MOP-dependent enhancement of methadone on the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for A172 cells by upregulating phosphorylated JNK and BCL2

Shi Lei, Heike Pohla, Alexander Buchner, Linglin Zhang, Thomas Pongratz, Adrian Rühm, Wolfgang Zimmermann, Odrun Arna Gederaas, Xiuli Wang, Herbert Stepp, Ronald Sroka. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther. 2020 Jan 13:101657. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2020.101657. JIF: 2.589

Short version:

Methadone, as a long-acting opioid analgesic, shows an ability to sensitize the treatment of 5-ALA-PDT for glioblastoma cells (A172) *in vitro* by promoting apoptosis. However, the mechanisms how methadone enhances the effectiveness of 5-ALA-PDT for tumor cells remains to be clarified. The expression of mu opioid receptor (MOP), apoptosis, phosphorylated c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and phosphorylated apoptosis regulator B cell lymphoma 2 (BCL2) were measured by flow cytometry. Cytotoxicity was determined using Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8). A MOP antagonist, naloxone, was used to evaluate the role of MOP in the abovementioned process. It was found that A172 cells show the expression of MOP and that naloxone inhibits the enhancement of the methadone effect on apoptosis following 5-ALA-PDT (p<0.05). The expression of phosphorylated JNK and BCL2 induced by 5-ALA-PDT were enhanced in the presence of methadone (p<0.05). These methadone effects were also inhibited by naloxone (p<0.05). The results suggest that apoptosis induced by 5-ALA-PDT is enhanced by methadone, mostly MOP-mediated, through the upregulation of phosphorylated JNK and BCL2, leading to improved cytotoxicity of 5-ALA-PDT in A172 cells.

Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy 30 (2020) 101657



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pdpdt

MOP-dependent enhancement of methadone on the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for A172 cells by upregulating phosphorylated JNK and BCL2

Lei Shi^{a,b}, Heike Pohla^{c,d}, Alexander Buchner^{c,d}, Linglin Zhang^b, Thomas Pongratz^{a,d}, Adrian Rühm^{a,d}, Wolfgang Zimmermann^{c,d}, Odrun Arna Gederaas^{c,f}, Xiuli Wang^b, Herbert Stepp^{a,d,*}, Ronald Sroka^{a,b,d,*}

⁸ Laser-Forschungslabor, LIFE Center, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany

⁶ Labor für Tumorinmunologie, LIFE Center, University Inopital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany ⁶ Labor für Tumorinmunologie, LIFE Center, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany ⁴ Department of Urology, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany

¹Department of Physics, Norwesky Inogena, Lako manuci, manuch, ocenany Department of Physics, Norweskan University of Science and Technology, NTU, N-7491, Trondheim, Norway ¹Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, NTNU, N-7491, Trondheim, Norway

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: ALA-PDT Methadone MOP JNK BCI.2 Apoptosis Glioblastoma	Background: Methadone, as a long-acting opioid analgesic, shows an ability to sensitize the treatment of ALA-PDT for glioblastoma cells (A172) <i>in vitro</i> by promoting apoptosis. However, the mechanisms how methadone enhances the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for tumor cells remains to be clarified.Methods: The expression of mu opioid receptor (MOP), apoptosis, phosphorylated c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and phosphorylated apoptosis regulator B cell lymphoma 2 (BCL2) were measured by flow cytometry. Cytotoxicity was determined using Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8). A MOP antagonist, naloxone, was used to evaluate the role of MOP in the above process.Results: It was found that A172 cells show the expression of MOP and that naloxone inhibits the enhancement of the methadone effect on apoptosis following ALA-PDT ($p < 0.05$). Phosphorylated JNK and BCL2 induced by ALA-PDT were promoted in the presence of methadone ($p < 0.05$). These methadone effects were also inhibited by naloxone ($p < 0.05$).Conclusions: The results suggest that apoptosis induced by ALA-PDT is enhanced by methadone, mostly MOP-mediated, through the upregulation of accumulation of phosphorylated JNK and BCL2, leading to a promotion of cytotoxicity of ALA-PDT for A172 cells.

1. Introduction

5-Aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT) is a well-established non-invasive antitumor treatment in dermatology [1,2]. It is also applied for the treatment of glioblastoma [3,4]. The main drawback of ALA-PDT is its limited effectiveness on invasively growing or large tumors [5,6]. To improve the effectiveness of ALA-PDT, several potentiating agents, such as the iron chelator deferoxamine, calcitriol, methotrexate, gefitinib, metformin and imiquimod have been investigated in combination with ALA-PDT [7–13]. However, the above potentiating effects have not reached full satisfaction.

Pain is one of the main symptoms of cancers [14]. ALA-PDT may also induce severe pain during or after irradiation, which limits the application of ALA-PDT especially in dermatology [15,16]. Methadone, as a long-acting opioid analgesic [17] is used as a pain medication for cancer patients. Interestingly, methadone has also been shown to sensitize glioblastoma, leukemia, and other tumors to the treatment of doxorubicin or cisplatin in vitro and in vivo [18-23]. In our previous research, the sensitization effect of methadone was also observed on ALA-PDT with a sublethal treatment parameter set for glioblastoma cells (A172) in vitro by promoting apoptosis [24].

Methadone is an opioid receptor agonist with a high affinity to the mu opioid receptor (MOP) [25]. The mechanisms of methadone re-ported to enhance the cytotoxicity of chemotherapy for tumor cells include: 1) Activation of MOP leads to the reduction of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production via inhibition of adenylyl cyclase [26]. cAMP as a second messenger controls cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis. The downregulation of cAMP induced by MOP

E-mail addresses: Herbert.Stepp@med.uni-muenchen.de (H. Stepp), Ronald.Sroka@med.uni-muenchen.de (R. Sroka).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pdpdt.2020.101657

Received 20 October 2019; Received in revised form 30 December 2019; Accepted 10 January 2020

* Corresponding authors at: Laser-Forschungslabor, LIFE Center, University Hospital, LMU Munich, Munich, Germany.

Available online 13 January 2020

1572-1000/ © 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy 30 (2020) 101657



Fig. 1. Experiment groups and flow chart for treatments and drug administration. The serum-free medium was used during treatment with 5-aminolevulinic acid. Tumor cells were irradiated after a 24 h incubation with 5-aminolevulinic acid.

activation using methadone sensitizes tumor cells to doxorubicin-induced apoptosis [19,22]. 2) Methadone induces death of tumor cells through the activation of caspase-9 and caspase-3, down-regulation of B-cell lymphoma-extra large (BCL-XL) and X chromosome–linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) [27]. However, the mechanism how methadone enhances the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for tumor cells remains to be clarified.

The c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) activity pathway, also named stress-activated protein kinase pathway (SAPK) is essential for providing a cellular response to many types of stress, including reactive oxygen species, ultraviolet, γ-irradiation, and anticancer drugs (cisplatin, doxorubicin, or etoposide) [28,29]. ALA-PDT initiates apoptotic cell death via activation of the JNK pathway in HaCaT cells, human non-small cell lung carcinoma cells and oral cancer Ca9-22 cells [30–33]. Activated MOP also shows the ability to initiate the JNK pathway [34,35]. Therefore, the question arises, whether methadone as a MOP agonist can activate JNK and enhance the activation of JNK induced by ALA-PDT in A172 cells.

The JNK pathway shows the ability to induce phosphorylation of Bcell lymphoma-2 (BCL2). Non-phosphorylated BCL2 is a 26-kDa integral membrane oncoprotein which shows the ability to suppress apoptosis [36]. However, the exact mechanism of apoptosis regulation by phosphorylated BCL2 is unclear yet and conflicting results have been reported [37,38]. On the one hand, growth factor or nicotine-induced BCL2 phosphorylation was found to suppress apoptosis that plays a role in resistance to chemotherapy [39–42]. On the other hand, paclitaxelinduced BCL2 phosphorylation showed the ability to promote apoptosis in several tumor cell lines indicating that phosphorylation inhibits BCL2 anti-apoptotic function [43–47]. Hypericin mediated PDT was also found to induce BCL2 phosphorylation and promotes apoptosis of tumor cells [33]. However, methadone was reported to downregulate BCL2 phosphorylation and to promote cytotoxicity in leukemia cells [48]. Therefore, the effects of ALA-PDT plus methadone on BCL2 phosphorylation and apoptosis are very intriguing and worth exploring. Generally, it would be interesting to explore the mechanism how methadone enhances the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for A172 cells. We

methadone enhances the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for A172 cells. We therefore investigated, whether the activation of apoptosis is caused by a MOP-dependent activation of the JNK pathway. We also addressed the relationship between apoptosis and phosphorylated BCL2.

2. Methods

2.1. Cell culture

The glioblastoma cell line A172 and the chronic myelogenous leukemia cell line K562 were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection and cultured in DMEM medium (Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS, Biochrom AG, Germany), penicillin (100 IU/mL), streptomycin (100 µg/mL) and MEM non-essential amino acids (Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany). The cells were kept at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 5 % CO₂ and passaged using 0.05 % trypsin/0.02 % EDTA every three days.

2.2. Measurement of the expression of mu opioid receptor

MOP expressions on A172 and K562 cells were determined by flow cytometry staining with opioid receptor mu 1 (OPRM1) polyclonal antibody (44-308G; Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany). Tumor cells were harvested from a 6-well plate into flow cytometry tubes and washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) twice. 1×10^6 of cells were re-suspended in 100 μL PBS and treated with 5 μL OPRM1 polyclonal antibody for 1 h. After washing with PBS, cells were resuspended in 250 μL PBS and treated with 1 μL goat anti-rabbit IgG

cross-adsorbed secondary antibody (FITC conjugate) (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Germany) for 1 h. Finally, MOP was measured using a flow cytometer (FACSCalibur, Becton Dickinson Heidelberg, Germany). The fluorescence was excited by a 488 nm diode laser and measured in the FL1 (530/30 bandpass filter) photomultiplier tube of the flow cytometer. The mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) was calculated using a FlowJo v10 Workspace (FlowJo LLC, OR, USA). The value of MOP MFI of tumor cells was calculated by subtracting the mean MFI of tumor cells stained only with secondary antibody.

2.3. Experimental groups

The experiments in this study consisted of untreated control, methadone (MET) only, methadone plus naloxone (MET + NAL), ALA-PDT, ALA-PDT plus methadone (ALA-PDT + MET) and ALA-PDT plus methadone and naloxone (ALA-PDT + MET + NAL) groups. A172 cells were used to investigate the methadone effect on ALA-PDT for glioblastoma cells. The flow chart for administrations of drugs and treatments in each group are shown in Fig. 1. Methadone used in this study was $p_{, L}$ -methadone (Sanofi-Aventis Deutschland GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany) at a final concentration of 0.065 μ M.

2.4. Photodynamic therapy

A sublethal treatment parameter set of ALA-PDT was used in this study. The protocol of ALA-PDT was similar as we described in our previous work [24]. ALA (Fagron GmbH & Co. KG, Barsbüttel, Germany) solutions were freshly prepared in serum free medium each time. All drug and laser treatments were performed as Fig. 1 shows. AI72 cells were incubated in serum-free medium containing 1 mM ALA for 24 h. Cells were irradiated with laser light delivered by a fiber (core diameter: 600 µm) with custom-made projection optics connected to a 635 nm Ceralas diode laser (CeramOptec GmbH, Bonn, Germany) at an irradiation of 100 mW/cm² for 2 J/cm² in a temperature stabilized (T = 37 °C) light tight box.

2.5. Quantification of apoptotic cells

A172 cells (1 \times 10⁶ per well) were plated in 6-well plates and treated according to the protocols in Fig. 1. Cells were collected into flow cytometry tubes at 24 h after irradiation. Then, cells were washed with 1 mL PBS twice and re-suspended in 200 μ L of annexin V buffer with 5 μ L annexin V-FITC and 5 μ L 7-aminoactinomycin D (7-AAD, BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) for 20 min. The apoptosis rate was determined by flow cytometry. Annexin V-positive cells were considered as apoptotic.

2.6. Measurement of the expressions of JNK and phosphorylated BCL2

A172 cells were harvested from 6-well plates and washed with PBS twice. Cells were treated with 100 µL of fixing medium from the FIX & PERM Kit GAS-002 (Nordic-MUbio, Susteren, Netherlands) according to the manufacturer's protocol. After washing with 4 mL of PBS, cells were treated with 100 μL of permeabilization medium and $2\,\mu L$ of monoclonal mouse anti-phospho-SAPK/JNK (Thr183/Tyr185) (G9) antibody (Alexa Fluor* 647 conjugate) or $2\,\mu L$ of rabbit anti-phospho-BCL2 (Ser70) (5H2) monoclonal antibody (Alexa Fluor® 488 conjugate) (Cell Signaling Technology, Frankfurt, Germany) to measure the expression of JNK and phosphorylated BCL2, respectively [49]. After 1 h of incubation under light protection, expressions of phopho-JNK and phopho-BCL2 were quantified using a flow cytometer (FACSCalibur, Becton Dickinson Heidelberg, Germany). The fluorescence of anti-JNK antibodies was excited by a 635 nm red diode laser and measured in the FL4 (661/16 bandpass filter) photomultiplier tube of the flow cvtometer. The fluorescence of anti-BCL2 antibodies was excited by a 488 nm red diode laser and measured in the FL1 (530/30 bandpass

Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy 30 (2020) 101657

filter) photomultiplier tube of the flow cytometer. The MFI was calculated using the FlowJo v10 Workspace. The final MFI of JNK or BCL2 was calculated by subtracting the mean MFI without staining.

2.7. Measurement of cytotoxicity

The cytotoxicity was assessed based on survival rates as determined by the Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) method [6]. To each well of a 96-well plate, $10\,\mu\text{L}$ of CCK-8 (Sigma-Aldrich Chemie GmbH, Schnelldorf, Germany) solution were added. After 2 h of incubation, the optical density of each well was measured at $\lambda=450\,\text{nm}$ using an ELISA Microplate Reader, Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA, USA). The cell survival rate (CSR) in % was calculated as:

 $\left(CSR[\%] = \frac{optical \ density \ value \ in \ treated \ well - blank}{optical \ density \ value \ in \ control \ well - blank} \times 100\right).$

2.8. Statistical methods

All experiments in this study were performed in triplicates and biologically repeated three times. Statistical tests were performed using SPSS 13.0 software (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Mann-Whitney-U-test was used to compare the expressions of MOP, phosphorylated JNK, phosphorylated BCL2, apoptosis and cytotoxicity between different groups. P-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. A172 cells express MOP

The expression of MOP on A172 cells was measured using flow cytometry. K562 cells were used as a positive control known to express MOP [50]. Fluorescence of A172 cells stained by both anti-MOP anti-body and secondary antibody was stronger than that obtained only with secondary antibody, indicating MOP expression on A172 cells (Fig. 2A). K562 cells show a more apparent fluorescence difference between cells stained with or without anti-MOP antibody. The MOP MFI (mean \pm SEM) (Fig. 2B) of A172 cells was 124.0 \pm 19.2 a.u. which was lower than that of K562 cells (482.6 \pm 20.3), indicating A172 cells did express MOP but less than K562 cells.

3.2. MOP antagonist inhibits the sensitizing effect of methadone on ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis

To explore whether methadone enhances the ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis of A172 cells by binding with MOP, a MOP antagonist, naloxone [51] was used to competitively bind the MOP. Apoptosis was measured using flow cytometry. The administrations of drugs and treatments of the experimental groups are sketched in Fig. 1. A172 cells were treated with 0.065 µM of D, L-methadone in the presence of varying concentrations of naloxone (0.065, 0.325, 0.65 or 1.3 µM) as shown in Fig. 3. The percentage of apoptotic A172 cells (mean \pm SEM) in the untreated control group was 5.1 $\%\pm$ 0.3 %. The fraction of apoptotic cells in MET and MET + 0.65 μM NAL groups was 11.1 $\% \pm 0.9 \%$ and 13.0 $\% \pm 0.9 \%$, respectively. Both were higher than in the untreated control group (p < 0.05). The fraction of apoptotic cells in the ALA-PDT group was 23.2 % \pm 1.4 %, which was significantly higher than in the untreated control, MET or MET + $0.65\,\mu\text{M}$ NAL group (p < 0.05). The fraction of apoptotic cells in the ALA-PDT + MET group was 48.0 $\%~\pm~2.1~\%$ which was higher than in the ALA-PDT group (p < 0.05). Apoptosis in ALA-PDT + MET + NAL groups decreased with increasing concentrations of naloxone. In the ALA-PDT + MET + 0.065 µM and 0.325 µM NAL groups, the apoptosis

Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy 30 (2020) 101657



Fig. 2. A172 cells express mu opioid receptor (MOP). The expressions of MOP on A172 cells and K562 cells were measured by flow cytometry staining with OPRM1 polyclonal antibody. Representative histograms (A) and mean MOP MFI (\pm SEM) (B) are shown (n = 9). MOP antibody (+) cells were stained with both OPRM1 polyclonal antibody and FITC-conjugated secondary antibody; MOP antibody (-); cells were stained with secondary antibody only. *; p < 0.05.

rates decreased to 38.0 % \pm 0.7 % and 35.5 % \pm 1.1 %. Both were significantly lower than ALA-PDT + MET group (p < 0.05). In the ALA-PDT + MET + 0.65 μ M NAL group, the apoptosis rates further decreased to 29.9 % \pm 1.8 % which was significantly lower than that in ALA-PDT + MET + 0.325 μ M NAL group (p < 0.05). There was no significant difference between the ALA-PDT + MET + 0.65 μ M NAL group and the ALA-PDT + MET + 1.3 μ M NAL group (28.8 % \pm 1.1 %) (p > 0.05). The above results show that methadone enhances the ALA-PDT induced apoptosis of A172 cells and that this effect can largely be inhibited by the MOP antagonist naloxone.

3.3. Accumulation of phosphorylated JNK induced by ALA-PDT is promoted by methadone $% \left({{{\rm{ALA}}} \right)_{\rm{ALA}} \right)$

Phosphorylated JNK was quantified in permeabilized cells using flow cytometry. Phosphorylated JNKs in the ALA-PDT and ALA-PDT + MET groups were determined at 0.5, 3, 6 and 12 h after irradiation (Fig. 4). At all time-points, the amount of phosphorylated JNK in the ALA-PDT + MET group was significantly higher than that in the ALA-PDT group (p < 0.05). Of note, the active JNK in ALA-PDT + MET group increased with time. The MFI of phospho-JNK at 12 h after irradiation was significantly higher than that of 0.5 h (p < 0.05). In the ALA-PDT group, compared to that at 0.5 h, there was no significant change of the activity of JNK at different time-points (p > 0.05).

3.4. The stimulatory effect of methadone on ALA-PDT-induced phosphorylation of JNK is inhibited by MOP antagonist naloxone

The amounts of phosphorylated JNK at 3h after irradiation were determined in the following A172 cells treatment groups: untreated control, MET only, NAL only, MET + NAL, ALA-PDT, ALA-PDT + MET and ALA-PDT + MET + NAL (Fig. 5). The concentration of naloxone used was $0.65\,\mu\text{M}$. The phosphorylated JNK MFI in the untreated control group was 8.3 \pm 0.5. There was no significant differences of phosphorylated JNK MFI between untreated control group and the MET only (7.8 \pm 0.3), NAL only (7.4 \pm 0.2), or MET + NAL groups (7.6 ± 0.3) (p > 0.05). The phosphorylated JNK MFI in the ALA-PDT group (29.1 \pm 1.7) was significantly higher than that in the untreated control group (p < 0.05). The phosphorylated JNK MFI in ALA-PDT + MET group (60.7 \pm 2.5) was higher than that in the ALA-PDT group (p < 0.05). The phosphorylated JNK MFI in the ALA-PDT + MET + NAL group (47.4 $\% \pm 1.0 \%$) was lower than that in the ALA-PDT + MET group (p < 0.05) but higher than that in the ALA-PDT group (p < 0.05). The above results indicate that ALA-PDT increases the amount of phosphorylated JNK, which could be promoted by the addition of methadone. This effect of methadone on the accumulation of phosphorylated JNK induced by ALA-PDT could be partly inhibited by the MOP antagonist naloxone.

3.5. The amount of phosphorylated BCL2 after ALA-PDT is increased by methadone

To explore the correlational relationship between phosphorylated BCL2 and apoptosis of ALA-PDT treated A172 cells, phosphorylated BCL2 was quantified by flow cytometry. First, phosphorylated BCL2 was determined in the ALA-PDT and ALA-PDT + MET groups at 0.5, 3, 6 and 12 h after irradiation (Fig. 6). At all time-points, the phosphorylated BCL2 in the ALA-PDT + MET group were significantly higher than that in the ALA-PDT argoup (p < 0.05). The value of phosphorylated BCL2 MFI at 3 h after irradiation was higher than that at 0.5 h in the ALA-PDT group (p < 0.05). In the ALA-PDT group, compared to that at 0.5 h, there was no significant change of phosphorylated BCL2 at different time-points (p > 0.05). Methadone significantly promotes the expression of phosphorylated BCL2 in the presence of ALA-PDT.

3.6. The stimulatory effect of methadone on ALA-PDT-induced phosphorylation of BCL2 is inhibited by the MOP antagonist naloxone

Phosphorylated BCL2 was quantified in A172 cells at 3 h after irradiation in the untreated, MET only, NAL only, MET + NAL, ALA-PDT, ALA-PDT + MET and ALA-PDT + MET + NAL groups by flow cytometer. The concentrations of naloxone used with the NAL only and ALA-PDT + MET + NAL groups were 0.65 μ M. The results are shown in Fig. 7. The highest amount of phosphorylated BCL2 was recorded with the ALA-PDT + MET group (50.1 \pm 1.5), where neither MET only nor ALA-PDT only was significantly different from the untreated control (18.8 \pm 1.4). Co-incubation with naloxone partly inhibited the effect of methadone, leading to a phosphorylated BCL2 MFI of 43.4 \pm 1.0.

3.7. MOP antagonist naloxone inhibits the methadone-mediated enhancement of ALA-PDT-induced cytotoxicity

To clarify whether the MOP antagonist naloxone reverses the effect of methadone to enhance the cytotoxicity of ALA-PDT for A172 cells, the survival was measured using the CCK8 assay in untreated control, MET only, NAL only, MET only, NAL only, MET + NAL, ALA-PDT, ALA-PDT + MET and ALA-PDT + MET + NAL groups (Fig. 8). There was no significant change of survival rates in the MET only (100.3 % \pm 2.6 %), NAL only (107.8 % \pm 1.8 %), or MET + NAL groups (109.2

Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy 30 (2020) 101657



Fig. 3. Natioxone initiation in the sensitizing effect of methadone on ALA-PDT-induced approximation in ALA-PDT induced approximation in the sensitizing effect of methadone on ALA-PDT-induced approximation in the sensitizing effect of methadone on ALA-PDT-induced approximation in the sensitized approximation in the





Fig. 4. Methadone enhances the effect of ALA-PDT on the accumulation of phosphorylated JNK with time. A172 cells were treated as outlined in Fig. 1. Phosphorylated JNK MFI measured by flow cytometry are shown (n = 9). *: p < 0.05, compared to the phosphorylated JNK MFI in ALA-PDT group at the same time point. #: p < 0.05, compared to the JNK MFI at 0.5 h.

% \pm 3.4 %), compared to that in the untreated control group (100.0 % \pm 2.8 %) (p > 0.05). Cell survival in the ALA-PDT group decreased to 77.0 % \pm 6.2 %, which was significantly lower than that in the untreated control group (p < 0.05). A further significant drop in survival was observed in the ALA-PDT + MET group (38.1 % \pm 3.8 %) compared to the ALA-PDT group (p < 0.05). However, in the ALA-PDT + MET + MET + NAL group, survival was partially restored (67.6 % \pm 7.7 %), which was significantly higher than that in ALA-PDT + MET group (p < 0.05). The above results indicate that the MOP antagonist, naloxone can partially abrogate the methadone-mediated enhancement of ALA-PDT-induced cytotoxicity in A172 cells.

4. Discussion

Methadone had been found to enhance ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis of A172 cells *in vitro* [24]. In the previous study, it was found this enhancement did not rely on the increase of 5-ALA-induced PpIX. The methadone effects on the apoptosis induction between different timepoints of incubation were compared. Both before and after irradiation, methadone showed the ability to enhance the effect of ALA-PDT on tumor cells. This supporting action of methadone is positively correlated with the length of incubation times [24].

In this study, methadone was applied in the whole ALA-PDT period including pre-irradiation and post-irradiation (Fig. 1). It was investigated whether this methadone effect on ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis in A172 cells is MOP-dependent. The role of MOP in mediating the methadone effect on the ALA-PDT-induced activation of the JNK



Fig. 6. The expression of phosphorylated BCL2 induced by ALA-PDT was upregulated by methadone. A172 cells were treated as outlined in Fig. 1. Mean phosphorylated BCL2 MFI measured by flow cytometry are shown (n = 9). *: p < 0.05, compared to the phosphorylated BCL2 MFI in the ALA-PDT group at the same time point. #: p < 0.05, compared to the phosphorylated BCL2 MFI at 0.5.h.

pathway, BCL2 phosphorylation and cytotoxicity was also analyzed. Classical opioid receptors consist of MOP, kappa opioid receptors (KOP) and delta opioid receptors (DOP) [24,52]. MOP expression was found in U87 and U251 glioblastoma cells [53]. A172 as another glioblastoma cell line was also proved to express the opioid receptor [19]. In this study the expression of MOP in A172 cells was measured and compared with the expression of MOP in K562 cells, which served as positive control. The result showed that A172 cells do express MOP (Fig. 2), and that delivery of the MOP agonist naloxone at least partly reverses the methadone effect on ALA-PDT through binding to MOP [25].

To reduce the interference of PpIX fluorescence, 7-AAD was used instead of propidium iodide to stain the cells with annexin V for the measurement of apoptosis by flow cytometry. It was found that methadone enhances ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis in AI72 cells and this methadone effect was significantly inhibited by MOP antagonist naloxone in a dose dependent manner. Maximum inhibition was observed at $1.3\,\mu$ M naloxone (Fig. 3). The above results imply that the methadone effect on apoptosis is mostly MOP-dependent.

In this study, it was also found that JNK was activated by ALA-PDT through phosphorylation of threonine (Thr) 183 and tyrosine (Tyr) 185. This effect was further enhanced by addition of methadone. Involvement of the methadone target MOP is supported by the observation that the antagonist naloxone is able to inhibit this methadone effect (Figs. 4 and 5). Phosphorylated JNK showed a positive correlation with apoptosis in this study. Phosphorylated JNK can promote



Fig. 5. Naloxone partially inhibits the stimulatory effect of methadone on ALA-PDT-induced phosphorylation of JNK. A172 cells were treated as outlined in Fig. 1. Representative histograms for phosphorylated JNK (A) and mean phosphorylated JNK MFI (B) measured by flow cytometry are shown (n = 9). *: p < 0.05; NS: p > 0.05.





Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy 30 (2020) 101657



Fig. 7. Naloxone partially inhibits the stimulatory effect of methadone on ALA-PDT-induced phosphorylation of BCL2. A172 cells were treated as outlined in Fig. 1. Representative histograms for phosphorylated BCL2 (A) and mean phosphorylated BCL2 MFI (B) measured by flow cytometry are shown (n = 9). *: p < 0.05. NS: p > 0.05.



Fig. 8. Naloxone inhibits the methadone-mediated enhancement of ALA-PDTinduced cytotoxicity in A172 cells. A172 cells were treated as outlined in Fig. 1. The survival was measured by the CCK8 method (n = 9). Untreated cells were used as control group. *: p < 0.05. NS: p > 0.05. #: p < 0.05 compared to untreated control group.

apoptosis by multiple mechanisms [54]. In one mechanism activated JNK translocates to the nucleus, activates c-Jun and other target transcription factors by phosphorylation, and promotes apoptosis by increasing the expression of pro-apoptotic genes. In another mechanism directed at mitochondrial apoptotic proteins, activated JNK translocates to mitochondria, phosphorylates the BCL2 protein to antagonize the anti-apoptotic activity of BCL2 [55].

Phosphorylated JNK can further induce the phosphorylation of BCL2 at Thr56, serine (Ser) 70, Thr74, and Ser87 sites in the BCL2 loop region resulting in inactivation of its anti-apoptotic function [37,56]. Among these loop residues, Ser70 is the most frequently observed loop residue to be phosphorylated [37,57]. In this study, the degree of phosphorylation of BCL2 at Ser70 was measured. The results showed that the amount of phosphorylated Ser70 of BCL2 in the presence of ALA-PDT was significantly increased by addition of methadone. Compared to the ALA-PDT group, inclusion of methadone resulted in a higher apoptosis rate, more phosphorylated active JNK and more phosphorylated Ser70 in BCL2. This methadone-mediated enhancement of ALA-PDT could largely be inhibited by the MOP antagonist naloxone (Figs. 3-7). The above implies that methadone enhances the effect of ALA-PDT by the activation of the JNK pathway and initiation of apoptosis in a MOP-dependent manner. Phosphorylated Ser70 of BCL2 might be upregulated by the activity of JNK and promote the apoptosis induced by ALA-PDT in A172 cells (Fig. 9) [43-47,55].

Under sublethal treatment conditions of ALA-PDT, apoptosis is the main cause of cytotoxicity [58]. Methadone enhances the cytotoxicity of ALA-PDT through promoting apoptosis. In the present study it is shown that the MOP antagonist, naloxone at least partly inhibits the



Fig. 9. Possible mechanism based on the results of this study how methadone enhances the effectiveness of ALA-PDT in A172 cells. MET: methadone; MOP: mu opioid receptor; ALA-PDT: 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy; JNK: c-Jun N-terminal kinase; P: phosphorylation; BCL2: B-cell lymphoma-2.

methadone effect on ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis resulting in an increase of survival (Fig. 8). Naloxone as a MOP antagonist, could inhibit the methadone effect through the inhibition of the activation of JNK, decrease of Ser70 phoshorylation of BCL2 and apoptosis.

In summary, this study is the first report to show A172 cells express MOP, the methadone effect on the ALA-PDT-induced apoptosis for A172 cells is MOP-dependent, and the methadone effect on the ALA-PDT-induced activation of JNK pathway, BCL2 phosphorylation contributes to the cytotoxicity of ALA-PDT for A172 cells. The expression of phosphorylated Ser70 of BCL2 showed a positive correlation with the apoptosis rate induced by ALA-PDT in this study. The relationship between the efficacy of methadone and the amount of MOP expressed in tumor cells would be interesting to be explored in future studies. In addition, methadone may also enhance the effect of other photosensitizer-based PDT for tumors. A higher concentration of methadone may have a stronger effect on improving the efficacy of PDT on tumor cells. However, for the transfer to the clinic, more studies on patients have to be carried out in order to evaluate the effectiveness of methadone and to find a suitable methadone concentration with a strong therapeutic effect but least possible side effects.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by grants from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81601601) and Chinese Scholarship Council (CSC) National Scholarship for Study Abroad. The authors thank Birgit Stadlbauer for her excellent support in carrying out the experiments.

References

- U. Keyal, A.K. Bhatta, G. Zhang, X.L. Wang, Present and future perspectives of photodynamic therapy for cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 80 (2019) 765–773.
 C. Morton, R.M. Szelmies, A. Sidoroff, A.M. Wennberg, N. Basset-Seguin, P. Calzavara-Pinton, et al., European dermatology forum guidelines on topical photodynamic therapy, Bur. J. Dermatol. EDJ 25 (2015) 296–311.
 A. Johansson, F. Faber, G. Kniebuhler, H. Stepp, R. Sroka, R. Egensperger, et al., Protoporphyrin LY fluorescence and photobleaching during interstitial photo-dynamic therapy of malignant gilomas for early treatment prognosis, Lasers Surg. Med. 45 (2013) 225–234.
 K. Mahmoudi, K.L. Garvey, A. Bouras, G. Cramer, H. Stepp, J.G. Jesu Rai, et al., 5-
- [4] K. Mahmoudi, K.L. Garvey, A. Bouras, G. Cramer, H. Stepp, J.G. Jesu Raj, et al., 5-Aminolevulnic acid boy to yours, it is anney, it is object to be a ray, it is a second second
- pair Territory, G. Liborg, K. M. Szelmites, et al., Gain with nc pair? Pain management in dermatological photodynamic therapy, Br. J. Dermatol. 177 (2017) 656–665.
- [6] U. Keyal, Q. Luo, A.K. Bhatta, H. Luan, P. Zhang, Q. Wu, et al., Zinc pthalocyanine oaded chitosan/mPEG-PLA nano articles-mediated photodynamic therapy for the nt of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, J. Biophotonics (2018) 201800114.
- [7] K.R. Rollakanti, S. Anand, E.V. Maytin, Vitamin D enhances the efficacy of photo-dynamic therapy in a murine model of breast cancer, Cancer Med. 4 (2015) 633-642.
- b) 200-012.
 B) W. Wang, K. Tabu, Y. Hagiya, Y. Sugiyama, Y. Kokubu, Y. Murota, et al., Enhancement of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based fluorescence detection of side lation-defined glioma stem cells by iron chelation, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 4207
 S. Anand, K.R. Rollakanti, R.L. Horst, T. Hasan, E.V. Maytin, Combination of side popu-
- vitamin D3 with photodynamic therapy enhances tumor cell death in a murine model of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, Photochem. Photobiol. 90 (2014) 1126-1135
- [10] D.F. Yang, J.W. Lee, H.M. Chen, Y.C. Hsu, Topical methotrexate pretreatment en-hances the therapeutic effect of topical 5-aminolevulinic acid-mediated photo-dynamic therapy on hamster buccal pouch precancers, J. Formos. Med. Assoc. 113 (2014) 101 FOR E00 (2014) 591-599.
- [11] W. Sun, Y. Kajimoto, H. Inoue, S. Mivatake, T. Ishikawa, T. Kuroiwa, Gefitinib
- W. Sun, Y. Kajimoto, H. Inoue, S. Miyatake, T. Ishikawa, T. Kuroiwa, Gentinib enhances the efficacy of photodynamic therapy using 5-aminolevulinic acid in malignant brain tumor cells, Photodiagn. Photodyn. Ther. 10 (2013) 42–50. A.K. Bhatta, P. Wang, U. Keyal, Z. Zhao, J. Ji, L. Zhu, et al., Therapeutic effect of Imiquimod enhanced ALA-PDT on cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, Photodiagn. Photodyn. Ther. 23 (2018) 273–280. [12]
- T. Osaki, I. Yokoe, K. Takahashi, K. Inoue, M. Ishizuka, T. Tanaka, et al., Metformin [13] hances the cytotoxicity of 5-aminolevulinic acid-mediated photodynamic therapy
- Emances the cytocoactity of Standard St [14]
- b5 (2016) 121-129.
 [15] C. Friesen, S. Bacher, I. Hormann, M. Roscher, E. Miltner, Cytotoxic effects of opioids on cancer cell lines, Int. J. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 49 (2011) 60-62.
 [16] C.B. Warren, L.J. Karai, A. Vidimos, E.V. Maytin, Pain associated with aminolev linit actic-photodynamic therapy of skin disease, J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 61 (6) (2009) 1033-1043.
- S. Chary, Methadone for pain management: past, present and future, Indian J. [17]
- [17] J. S. Charj, McMakolin Lor pain managamente past, present and runter, instant a. Palliatt. Care 24 (2018) 56–59.
 [18] J. Onken, C. Friesen, P. Vajkoczy, M. Misch, Safety and tolerance of pu-methadone in combination with chemotherapy in patients with glioma, Anticancer Res. 37 (2017) 1227–1235.
- [19] C. Friesen, I. Hormann, M. Roscher, I. Fichtner, A. Alt, R. Hilger, et al., Opioid receptor activation triggering downregulation of cAMP improves effecti cancer drugs in treatment of glioblastoma, Cell Cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 13 (2014) 1560-1570
- [20] G. Kreye, E.K. Masel, K. Hackner, B. Stich, F. Nauck, Methadone as anticancer treatment: hype, hope, or hazard?: a series of case reports and a short review of the current literature and recommendations of the societies, Wiener Med. Wochenschr. (1946) 2018.
- [21] M. Michalska, A. Katzenwadel, P. Wolf, Methadone as a "Tumor Theralgesic" against [21] M. MICHABAR, A. KALZEHWARD, F. WOL, MCHARDIE as a Tunior The argeste against cancer, Front. Pharmacol. 8 (2017) 733.
 [22] C. Friesen, M. Roscher, I. Hormann, I. Fichtner, A. Alt, R.A. Hilger, et al., Cell death sensitization of leukemia cells by opioid receptor activation, Oncotarget 4 (2013) (2017)
- 690.
- [23] M. Michalska, S. Schultze-Seemann, I. Kuckuck, A. Katzenwadel, P. Wolf, Impact of ethadone on cisplatin treatment of bladder cancer cells, Anticancer Res. 38 (2018) 1369-1375

Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy 30 (2020) 101657

- [24] L. Shi, A. Buchner, H. Pohla, T. Pongratz, A. Ruhm, W. Zimmermann, et al., [25] L. Bu, S. Bochne, H. Pouls, F. Pougaad, S. Kumi, W. Zaminkinaki, C. a., Methadone enhances the effectiveness of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photo-dynamic therapy for squamous cell carchoma and glioblastoma in vitro, J. Biophotonics (2019) 201800468.
 [25] L. He, J. Kim, C. Ou, W. McFadden, R.M. van Rijn, J.L. Whistler, Methadone anti-lation of the statement of th
- nociception is dependent on peripheral opioid receptors, J. Pain 10 (2009) 369-379.
- [26] M. Waldhoer, S.E. Bartlett, J.L. Whistler, Opioid receptors, Annu. Rev. Biochem. 73 (2004) 953-990.
- (2004) 955-950. C. Friesen, M. Roscher, A. Alt, E. Miltner, Methadone, commonly used as n tenance medication for outpatient treatment of opioid dependence, kills let cells and overcomes chemoresistance, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 6059–6064. [27] 0
- [28] I. Neganova, E. Shmeleva, J. Munkley, V. Chichagova, G. Anyfantis, R. Anderson, et al., JNK/SAPK signaling is essential for efficient reprogramming of human fits to induced pluripotent stem cells, Stem Cells (Dayton, Ohio) 34 (2016)
- [29] H. Nishina, T. Wada, T. Katada, Physical science (Carse (Dayton, Onio) 34 (2016) and the science of the science JNK and p38 but not ERK MAP kinases in human skin cells by 5-aminolevulinate
- JNK and p38 but not EKK MAP kinases in human skin cells by 5-aminoievulinate-photodynamic therapy. Cancer Res. 58 (1998) 4297–4300.
 R.W. Wu, C.M. Yow, C.K. Wong, Y.H. Lam, Photodynamic therapy (PDT)—initiation of apoptosis via activation of stress-activated p38 MAPK and JNK signal pathway in H460 cell lines, Photodigan. Photodyn. Ther. 8 (2011) 254–263.
 H.M. Chen, C.M. Liu, H. Yang, H.Y. Chou, C.P. Chiang, M.Y. Kuo, 5-aminolevulinic acid induce apoptosis via NF-kappaB/JNK pathway in human oral cancer Ca9-22
- acta induce apoptosis via Ni-kappan/JNK partway in numan oral cancer C49-22 cells, J. Oral Pathol. Med. 40 (2011) 483–489. A. Vantieghem, Y. Xu, Z. Assefa, J. Piette, J.R. Vandenheede, W. Merlevede, et al., Phosphorylation of Bcl-2 in G2/M phase-arrested cells following photodynamic therapy with hypericin involves a CDK1-mediated signal and delays the onset of apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 37718–37731. [33]
- [34] A.Y. Kam, A.S. Chan, Y.H. Wong, Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase is distinctively re-
- R.F. Rain, R.S. Chan, J. H. vong, Findynaurynnaufor Juriel activation of e-Juny Fe quired for mu-, but not kappa-oploid receptor-induced activation of e-Jun N-terminal kinase, J. Neurochem. 89 (2004) 391–402. E.J. Mellef, M. Miyatake, M.R. Bruchas, C. Chavkin, Ligand-directed c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation disrupts oploid receptor signaling, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (2010) 11608-11613.
- b. S. A. 10⁵, (2010) 11906–11915.
 [36] F. Taffi, C. Economopoulou, D. Gourgiotis, A. Ardavanis, S. Papageorgiou, A. Scorilas, The role of BCL2 family of apoptosis regulatory proteins in acute and chronic leukemias, Adv. Hematol. 2012 (2012) 254308.
 [37] K. Yamamoto, H. Ichijo, S.J. Korsmeyer, BCL-2 is phosphorylated and inactivated by
- d by an ASK1/Jun N-terminal protein kinase pathway normally activated at G(2)/M, Mol. Cell. Biol. 19 (1999) 8469–8478.
- [38] P.P. Ruvolo, X. Deng, W.S. May, Phosphorylation of Bcl2 and regulation of apop
- [30] International States and S
- [40] H. Mai, W.S. May, F. Gao, Z. Jin, X. Deng, A functional role for nicotine in Bcl2 phosphorylation and suppression of apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 1886-1891
- [41] W.S. May, P.G. Tyler, T. Ito, D.K. Armstrong, K.A. Qatsha, N.E. Davidson, Interleukin-3 and bryostatin-1 mediate hyperphosphorylation of BCL2 alpha in association with suppression of apoptosis, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 26865–26870.
 [42] T. Ito, X. Deng, B. Carr, W.S. May, Bel 2: phosphorylation required for anti-apoptosis function, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 11671–11673.

- function, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 11671–11673.
 [43] S. Haldar, A. Basu, C. M. Croce, Serine-70 is one of the critical sites for drug-induced Bcl2 phosphorylation in cancer cells, Cancer Res. 58 (1998) 1609–1615.
 [44] M.V. Biagoskilonny, T. Schulte, P. Nguyen, J. Trepel, L.M. Neckers, Taxol-induced apoptosis and phosphorylation of Bcl-2 protein involves c-Raf-1 and represents a novel c-Raf-1 signal transduction pathway, Cancer Res. 56 (1996) 1851–1854.

- novel C-Ra⁻¹ i signal transduction pathway, Cancer Res. So (1999) 1851–1854.
 [45] S. Haldar, N. Jena, C.M. Croce, Inactivitation of Bcl-2 by phosphorylation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 4507–4511.
 [46] S. Haldar, J. Chintapalli, C.M. Croce, Taxol induces bcl-2 phosphorylation and death of prostate cancer cells, Cancer Res. 56 (1996) 1253–1255.
 [47] M.V. Blagosklonny, P. Giannakakou, W.S. el-Deiry, D.G. Kingston, P.I. Higgs, L. Neckers, et al., Raf-1/bcl-2 phosphorylation: a step from microtubule damage to cell death, Cancer Res. 57 (1997) 130–135.
 [49] A. Sinek, A. Jonzehne, A. Engen, A. W. End, S.W. Kin, D. Borgen et al. Induction
- cell death, Cancer Res. 57 (1997) 130–135.
 [48] A. Singh, A. Jayanthan, A. Farran, A. N. Eiwi, S.W. Kim, P. Farran, et al., Induction of apoptosis in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) cells by the therapeutic opioid methadone and effective synergy with Bel-2 inhibition, Leuk. Res. 35 (2011) 1649–1657.
 [49] G. Bou, A. Villasis Keever, C.V. Paya, Detection of JNK and p38 activation by flow

- [49] G. Bou, A. Villasis-Keever, C.V. Paya, Detection of JNK and p38 activation by flow cytometry analysis, Anal. Biochem. 317 (2003) 147–155.
 [50] D.P. Maher, D. Walls, NM. Heller, Suppression of human natural killer cells by different classes of opioids, Anesth. Analg. 128 (2019) 1013–1021.
 [51] R. Rzasa Lynn, J.L. Galinkin, Naloxone dosage for opioid reversal: current evidence and clinical implications, Ther. Adv. Drug Saf. 9 (2018) 63–88.
 [52] C. Stein, Opioid receptors, Annu. Rev. Med. 67 (2016) 433–451.
 [53] K. Brawanski, G. Brockhoff, P. Hau, A. Vollmann-Zwerenz, C. Freyschlag, A. Lohmeler, et al., Efficacy of p., methadone in the treatment of glioblastoma in vitro, CNS Oncol. 7 (2018) Cns18.
 [54] D.N. Dhanasekaran, E.P. Reddy, JNK signaling: a multiplexing hub in programmed cell death, Genes Cancer 8 (2017) 682–694.
 [55] D.N. Dhanasekaran, E.P. Reddy, JNK signaling in apoptosis, Oncogene 27 (2008) 6245–6251.
- 6245-6251.

- [56] E. Kondo, T. Miyake, M. Shibata, T. Kimura, H. Iwagaki, S. Nakamura, et al., Expression of phosphorylated Ser70 of Bcl-2 correlates with malignancy in human colorectal neoplasms, Clin. Cancer. Res. 11 (2005) 7255-7263.
 [57] C.R. Han, Y. Jun do, J.Y. Lee, Y.H. Kim, Prometaphase arrest-dependent phos-phorylation of Bcl-2 and Bim reduces the association of Bcl-2 with Bak or Bim,

Photodiagnosis and Photodynamic Therapy 30 (2020) 101657

- provoking Bak activation and mitochondrial apoptosis in nocodazole-treated Jurkat T cells, Apoptosis 19 (2014) 224–240.
 [58] A.P. Castano, T.N. Demidova, M.R. Hamblin, Mechanisms in photodynamic therapy: part two-cellular signaling, cell metabolism and modes of cell death, Photodiagn. Photodyn. Ther. 2 (2005) 1–23.

REFERENCES

Uncategorized References

1. Shi, L., et al., Methadone enhances the effectiveness of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy for squamous cell carcinoma and glioblastoma in vitro. J Biophotonics, 2019. **12**(10): p. e201800468.

2. Shi, L., et al., MOP-dependent enhancement of methadone on the effectiveness of ALA-PDT for A172 cells by upregulating phosphorylated JNK and BCL2. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2020: p. 101657.

3. Shi, L., et al., *Application of 5-aminolevulinic acid-photodynamic therapy in common skin diseases*. Translational Biophotonics, 2020. **2**(1-2): p. e201900028.

4. Kennedy, J.C., R.H. Pottier, and D.C. Pross, *Photodynamic therapy with endogenous protoporphyrin IX: basic principles and present clinical experience*. J Photochem Photobiol B, 1990. **6**(1-2): p. 143-8.

5. Jeffes, E.W., *Levulan: the first approved topical photosensitizer for the treatment of actinic keratosis.* J Dermatolog Treat, 2002. **13 Suppl 1**: p. S19-23.

 Hadjipanayis, C.G. and W. Stummer, 5-ALA and FDA approval for glioma surgery. J Neurooncol, 2019. 141(3): p. 479-486.

7. Hunter, G.A. and G.C. Ferreira, *Molecular enzymology of 5-aminolevulinate synthase, the gatekeeper of heme biosynthesis.* Biochim Biophys Acta, 2011. **1814**(11): p. 1467-73.

8. Nokes, B., et al., *Aminolevulinic acid (ALA): photodynamic detection and?potential therapeutic applications*. Journal of Surgical Research. **181**(2): p. 262-271.

9. Wan, M.T. and J.Y. Lin, *Current evidence and applications of photodynamic therapy in dermatology*. Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol, 2014. 7: p. 145-63.

10. Gibson, S.L., et al., A regulatory role for porphobilinogen deaminase (PBGD) in delta-aminolaevulinic acid (delta-ALA)-induced photosensitization? Br J Cancer, 1998. 77(2): p. 235-42.

11. Ohgari, Y., et al., Mechanisms involved in delta-aminolevulinic acid (ALA)-induced photosensitivity of tumor cells: relation of ferrochelatase and uptake of ALA to the accumulation of protoporphyrin. Biochem Pharmacol, 2005. **71**(1-2): p. 42-9.

12. Yang, X., et al., *Aminolevulinic Acid-Based Tumor Detection and Therapy: Molecular Mechanisms and Strategies for Enhancement.* Int J Mol Sci, 2015. **16**(10): p. 25865-80.

13. Kim, J.E., et al., Mechanism for enhanced 5-aminolevulinic acid fluorescence in isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 mutant malignant gliomas. Oncotarget, 2015. 6(24): p. 20266-77.

Stepp, H. and R. Waidelich, [Fluorescence diagnosis and photodynamic therapy in urology]. Aktuelle Urol, 2007.
 38(6): p. 455-64.

15. Shi, L., et al., In vitro evaluation of 5-aminolevulinic acid (ALA) loaded PLGA nanoparticles. Int J Nanomedicine, 2013. 8: p. 2669-76.

16. Johansson, A., et al., Protoporphyrin IX fluorescence and photobleaching during interstitial photodynamic therapy of malignant gliomas for early treatment prognosis. Lasers Surg Med, 2013. **45**(4): p. 225-34.

17. Ji, J., et al., *CCL8 enhances sensitivity of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma to photodynamic therapy by recruiting M1 macrophages.* Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2019. **26**: p. 235-243.

18. Zhu, L., et al., The effect of C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 13 in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma treated with aminolevulinic acid-photodynamic therapy. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2019. **26**: p. 389-394.

19. Mroz, P., et al., Cell Death Pathways in Photodynamic Therapy of Cancer. Cancers. 3(4): p. 2516-2539.

20. Karrer, S., et al., *Keratinocyte-derived cytokines after photodynamic therapy and their paracrine induction of matrix metalloproteinases in fibroblasts.* Br J Dermatol, 2004. **151**(4): p. 776-83.

21. Shi, L., et al., *Comparison of 5-Aminolevulinic Acid Photodynamic Therapy and Clobetasol Propionate in Treatment of Vulvar Lichen Sclerosus*. Acta Derm Venereol, 2016. **96**(5): p. 684-8.

22. Morton, C.A., et al., *Practical approach to the use of daylight photodynamic therapy with topical methyl aminolevulinate for actinic keratosis: a European consensus.* J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 2015. **29**(9): p. 1718-23.

23. Bader, M.J., et al., *Photodynamic therapy of bladder cancer - a phase I study using hexaminolevulinate (HAL)*. Urol Oncol, 2013. **31**(7): p. 1178-83.

24. Wang, X., et al., *Treating cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma using 5-aminolevulinic acid polylactic-co-glycolic acid nanoparticle-mediated photodynamic therapy in a mouse model.* Int J Nanomedicine, 2015. **10**: p. 347-55.

25. Zaak, D., et al., Photodynamic therapy of prostate cancer by means of 5-aminolevulinic acid-induced protoporphyrin IX
- in vivo experiments on the dunning rat tumor model. Urol Int, 2004. 72(3): p. 196-202.

26. Mahmoudi, K., et al., 5-aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy for the treatment of high-grade gliomas. J Neurooncol, 2019. **141**(3): p. 595-607.

27. Stepp, H., et al., *ALA and malignant glioma: fluorescence-guided resection and photodynamic treatment*. J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol, 2007. **26**(2): p. 157-64.

28. Wang, X.L., et al., *Treatment of skin cancer and pre-cancer using topical ALA-PDT--a single hospital experience*. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2008. **5**(2): p. 127-33.

29. Dotto, G.P. and A.K. Rustgi, *Squamous Cell Cancers: A Unified Perspective on Biology and Genetics*. Cancer Cell, 2016. **29**(5): p. 622-637.

30. Karia, P.S., J. Han, and C.D. Schmults, *Cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma: estimated incidence of disease, nodal metastasis, and deaths from disease in the United States, 2012.* J Am Acad Dermatol, 2013. **68**(6): p. 957-66.

31. Kim, J.Y.S., et al., *Guidelines of care for the management of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma*. J Am Acad Dermatol, 2018. **78**(3): p. 560-578.

32. Hutchinson, L., Skin cancer: Setting the stage for cutaneous SCC. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 2014. 11(2): p. 63.

33. Que, S.K.T., F.O. Zwald, and C.D. Schmults, *Cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma: Management of advanced and high-stage tumors*. J Am Acad Dermatol, 2018. **78**(2): p. 249-261.

34. Fink-Puches, R., et al., *Long-term follow-up and histological changes of superficial nonmelanoma skin cancers treated with topical delta-aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy.* Arch Dermatol, 1998. **134**(7): p. 821-6.

35. Lu, Y.G., et al., *Efficacy of topical ALA-PDT combined with excision in the treatment of skin malignant tumor*. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2014. **11**(2): p. 122-6.

36. Peng, J., et al., *A Clinical Trial Using Attrition Combined with 5-Aminolevulinic Acids Based Photodynamic Therapy in Treating Squamous Cell Carcinoma*. Med Sci Monit, 2017. **23**: p. 1347-1354.

37. Wang, H., et al., *Therapeutic and immune effects of 5-aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy on UVB-induced squamous cell carcinomas in hairless mice.* Exp Dermatol, 2013. **22**(5): p. 362-3.

38. Wang, B., et al., *Gain with no pain? Pain management in dermatological photodynamic therapy.* Br J Dermatol, 2017. **177**(3): p. 656-665.

39. Keyal, U., et al., Zinc pthalocyanine-loaded chitosan/mPEG-PLA nanoparticles-mediated photodynamic therapy for the treatment of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. J Biophotonics, 2018: p. e201800114.

40. Wirsching, H.G., E. Galanis, and M. Weller, Glioblastoma. Handb Clin Neurol, 2016. 134: p. 381-97.

41. Omuro, A. and L.M. DeAngelis, *Glioblastoma and other malignant gliomas: a clinical review*. Jama, 2013. **310**(17): p. 1842-50.

42. Noch, E.K., R. Ramakrishna, and R. Magge, *Challenges in the Treatment of Glioblastoma: Multisystem Mechanisms of Therapeutic Resistance*. World Neurosurg, 2018. **116**: p. 505-517.

43. Stepp, H. and W. Stummer, *5-ALA in the management of malignant glioma*. Lasers Surg Med, 2018. **50**(5): p. 399-419.

44. Tsai, J.C., et al., *Comparative study on the ALA photodynamic effects of human glioma and meningioma cells.* Lasers Surg Med, 1999. **24**(4): p. 296-305.

45. Hirschberg, H., et al., Effects of ALA-mediated photodynamic therapy on the invasiveness of human glioma cells. Lasers Surg Med, 2006. **38**(10): p. 939-45.

46. Bisland, S.K., et al., Increased expression of mitochondrial benzodiazepine receptors following low-level light treatment facilitates enhanced protoporphyrin IX production in glioma-derived cells in vitro. Lasers Surg Med, 2007. **39**(8): p. 678-84.

47. Eléouet, S., et al., *Heterogeneity of delta-aminolevulinic acid-induced protoporphyrin IX fluorescence in human glioma cells and leukemic lymphocytes.* Neurol Res, 2000. **22**(4): p. 361-8.

48. Schimanski, A., et al., *Human glioblastoma stem-like cells accumulate protoporphyrin IX when subjected to exogenous* 5-aminolaevulinic acid, rendering them sensitive to photodynamic treatment. J Photochem Photobiol B, 2016. **163**: p. 203-10.

49. Coupienne, I., et al., 5-ALA-PDT induces RIP3-dependent necrosis in glioblastoma. Photochem Photobiol Sci, 2011. **10**(12): p. 1868-78.

50. Kammerer, R., et al., Induction of immune mediators in glioma and prostate cancer cells by non-lethal photodynamic therapy. PLoS One, 2011. **6**(6): p. e21834.

51. Beck, T.J., et al., Interstitial photodynamic therapy of nonresectable malignant glioma recurrences using 5-aminolevulinic acid induced protoporphyrin IX. Lasers Surg Med, 2007. **39**(5): p. 386-93.

52. Akimoto, J., J. Haraoka, and K. Aizawa, *Preliminary clinical report on safety and efficacy of photodynamic therapy using talaporfin sodium for malignant gliomas.* Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2012. **9**(2): p. 91-9.

53. Akimoto, J., et al., *First autopsy analysis of the efficacy of intra-operative additional photodynamic therapy for patients with glioblastoma*. Brain Tumor Pathol, 2019. **36**(4): p. 144-151.

54. Cramer, S.W. and C.C. Chen, *Photodynamic Therapy for the Treatment of Glioblastoma*. Front Surg, 2019. **6**: p. 81.

55. Eljamel, S., *Photodynamic applications in brain tumors: a comprehensive review of the literature.* Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2010. **7**(2): p. 76-85.

56. Stratigos, A., et al., *Diagnosis and treatment of invasive squamous cell carcinoma of the skin: European consensus*based interdisciplinary guideline. Eur J Cancer, 2015. **51**(14): p. 1989-2007.

57. Bhatta, A.K., et al., *Therapeutic effect of Imiquimod enhanced ALA-PDT on cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma*. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2018. **23**: p. 273-280.

58. Chen, X., et al., *Calcitriol enhances 5-aminolevulinic acid-induced fluorescence and the effect of photodynamic therapy in human glioma*. Acta Oncol, 2014. **53**(3): p. 405-13.

59. Yang, D.F., et al., *Improve efficacy of topical ALA-PDT by calcipotriol through up-regulation of coproporphyrinogen oxidase*. Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2014. **11**(3): p. 331-41.

60. Sun, W., et al., *Gefitinib enhances the efficacy of photodynamic therapy using 5-aminolevulinic acid in malignant brain tumor cells.* Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2013. **10**(1): p. 42-50.

61. Rollakanti, K.R., S. Anand, and E.V. Maytin, *Vitamin D enhances the efficacy of photodynamic therapy in a murine model of breast cancer.* Cancer Med, 2015. **4**(5): p. 633-42.

62. Wang, W., et al., Enhancement of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based fluorescence detection of side population-defined glioma stem cells by iron chelation. Sci Rep, 2017. 7: p. 42070.

63. Anand, S., et al., *Combination of oral vitamin D3 with photodynamic therapy enhances tumor cell death in a murine model of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma*. Photochem Photobiol, 2014. **90**(5): p. 1126-35.

64. Yang, D.F., et al., Topical methotrexate pretreatment enhances the therapeutic effect of topical 5-aminolevulinic acidmediated photodynamic therapy on hamster buccal pouch precancers. J Formos Med Assoc, 2014. **113**(9): p. 591-9.

65. Osaki, T., et al., *Metformin enhances the cytotoxicity of 5-aminolevulinic acid-mediated photodynamic therapy in vitro*. Oncol Lett, 2017. **14**(1): p. 1049-1053.

66. Wang, X., et al., Enhancing selective photosensitizer accumulation and oxygen supply for high-efficacy photodynamic therapy toward glioma by 5-aminolevulinic acid loaded nanoplatform. J Colloid Interface Sci, 2020. 565: p. 483-493.

67. Halldin, C.B., et al., *Patients' experiences of pain and pain relief during photodynamic therapy on actinic keratoses: an interview study.* Acta Derm Venereol, 2013. **93**(4): p. 433-7.

68. Huang, N., et al., *A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of oral oxycodone plus acetaminophen for the treatment of pain in photodynamic therapy on port wine stains.* Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2014. **11**(2): p. 134-40.

69. Klein, A., et al., Comparing cold-air analgesia, systemically administered analgesia and scalp nerve blocks for pain management during photodynamic therapy for actinic keratosis of the scalp presenting as field cancerization: a randomized controlled trial. Br J Dermatol, 2015. **173**(1): p. 192-200.

70. Halldin, C.B., et al., *Nerve blocks enable adequate pain relief during topical photodynamic therapy of field cancerization on the forehead and scalp.* Br J Dermatol, 2009. **160**(4): p. 795-800.

71. Langan, S.M. and P. Collins, Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled prospective study of the efficacy of topical anaesthesia with a eutetic mixture of lignocaine 2.5% and prilocaine 2.5% for topical 5-aminolaevulinic acid-photodynamic therapy for extensive scalp actinic keratoses. Br J Dermatol, 2006. **154**(1): p. 146-9.

72. Borelli, C., et al., *Effect of subcutaneous infiltration anesthesia on pain in photodynamic therapy: a controlled open pilot trial.* Dermatol Surg, 2007. **33**(3): p. 314-8.

73. Berking, C., et al., *The efficacy of photodynamic therapy in actinic cheilitis of the lower lip: a prospective study of 15 patients*. Dermatol Surg, 2007. **33**(7): p. 825-30.

74. Stangeland, K.Z. and S. Kroon, *Cold air analgesia as pain reduction during photodynamic therapy of actinic keratoses.* J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 2012. **26**(7): p. 849-54.

75. Paoli, J., et al., *Nerve blocks provide effective pain relief during topical photodynamic therapy for extensive facial actinic keratoses.* Clin Exp Dermatol, 2008. **33**(5): p. 559-64.

76. Fink, C., et al., *Pain management in photodynamic therapy using a nitrous oxide/oxygen mixture: a prospective, withinpatient, controlled clinical trial.* J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol, 2017. **31**(1): p. 70-74.

77. Gholam, P., et al., Pain reduction in patients after applying a nitrous oxide/oxygen mixture (Livopan) during photodynamic therapy: study protocol for an observational study (Livopan study). BMJ Open, 2015. 5(3): p. e006412.

78. Wiegell, S.R., et al., *Continuous activation of PpIX by daylight is as effective as and less painful than conventional photodynamic therapy for actinic keratoses; a randomized, controlled, single-blinded study.* Br J Dermatol, 2008. **158**(4): p. 740-6.

79. Szeimies, R.M., Pain perception during photodynamic therapy: why is daylight PDT with methyl aminolevulinate almost pain-free? A review on the underlying mechanisms, clinical reflections and resulting opportunities. G Ital Dermatol Venereol, 2018. **153**(6): p. 793-799.

80. McHepange, U.O., et al., *Two-step irradiance schedule versus single-dose tramadol sustained-release tablets for pain control during topical 5-aminolevulinic acid-photodynamic therapy of condyloma acuminatum in Chinese patients: a randomized comparative study.* Lasers Surg Med, 2014. **46**(5): p. 389-95.

81. Mordon, S., Painless and efficient ALA-PDT and MAL-PDT of actinic keratosis can be achieved by drastically reducing the drug-light interval. Dermatol Ther, 2020: p. e13423.

82. Lecomte, F., et al., *Photodynamic Therapy Using a New Painless Light-Emitting Fabrics Device in the Treatment of Extramammary Paget Disease of the V ulva (the PAGETEX Study): Protocol for an Interventional Efficacy and Safety Trial.* JMIR Res Protoc, 2019. **8**(12): p. e15026.

83. Zhang, Y., et al., Modified 5-aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy to reduce pain in the treatment of moderate to severe acne vulgaris: A prospective, randomized split-face study. J Am Acad Dermatol, 2020.

84. Gao, W., M. Gulliford, and I.J. Higginson, *Prescription patterns of analgesics in the last 3 months of life: a retrospective analysis of 10202 lung cancer patients.* Br J Cancer, 2011. **104**(11): p. 1704-10.

85. He, L., et al., *Methadone antinociception is dependent on peripheral opioid receptors*. J Pain, 2009. **10**(4): p. 369-79.

86. McPherson, M.L., R.C. Costantino, and A.L. McPherson, *Methadone: Maximizing Safety and Efficacy for Pain Control in Patients with Cancer.* Hematol Oncol Clin North Am, 2018. **32**(3): p. 405-415.

87. Nicholson, A.B., et al., Methadone for cancer pain. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2017. 2(2): p. Cd003971.

88. Peirano, G.P., et al., *Methadone as first-line opioid treatment for cancer pain in a developing country palliative care unit.* Support Care Cancer, 2016. **24**(8): p. 3551-6.

89. Michalska, M., A. Katzenwadel, and P. Wolf, *Methadone as a "Tumor Theralgesic" against Cancer*. Front Pharmacol, 2017. **8**: p. 733.

90. Mercadante, S. and E. Bruera, *Methadone as a First-Line Opioid in Cancer Pain Management: A Systematic Review.* J Pain Symptom Manage, 2018. **55**(3): p. 998-1003.

91. Habashy, C., et al., *Methadone for Pain Management in Children with Cancer*. Paediatr Drugs, 2018. **20**(5): p. 409-416.

92. Onken, J., et al., Safety and Tolerance of D,L-Methadone in Combination with Chemotherapy in Patients with Glioma. Anticancer Res, 2017. **37**(3): p. 1227-1235.

93. Friesen, C., et al., Opioid receptor activation triggering downregulation of cAMP improves effectiveness of anti-cancer drugs in treatment of glioblastoma. Cell Cycle, 2014. **13**(10): p. 1560-70.

94. Kreye, G., et al., Methadone as anticancer treatment: hype, hope, or hazard? : A series of case reports and a short review of the current literature and recommendations of the societies. Wien Med Wochenschr, 2018. **168**(7-8): p. 159-167.

95. Stadlbauer, B., et al., *Co-treatment with l-methadone significantly increases the efficacy of cytostatic drugs in prostate cancer cells.* The Journal of Urology, 2017. **197**(4): p. e1114.

96. Friesen, C., et al., *Cell death sensitization of leukemia cells by opioid receptor activation*. Oncotarget, 2013. **4**(5): p. 677-90.

97. Michalska, M., et al., *Impact of Methadone on Cisplatin Treatment of Bladder Cancer Cells*. Anticancer Res, 2018. **38**(3): p. 1369-1375.

98. Singh, A., et al., Induction of apoptosis in pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) cells by the therapeutic opioid methadone and effective synergy with Bcl-2 inhibition. Leuk Res, 2011. **35**(12): p. 1649-57.

99. Landgraf, V., et al., *DL-Methadone as an Enhancer of Chemotherapeutic Drugs in Head and Neck Cancer Cell Lines.* Anticancer Res, 2019. **39**(7): p. 3633-3639.

100. Waldhoer, M., S.E. Bartlett, and J.L. Whistler, Opioid receptors. Annu Rev Biochem, 2004. 73: p. 953-90.

101. Friesen, C., et al., Methadone, commonly used as maintenance medication for outpatient treatment of opioid dependence, kills leukemia cells and overcomes chemoresistance. Cancer Res, 2008. **68**(15): p. 6059-64.

102. Neganova, I., et al., JNK/SAPK Signaling Is Essential for Efficient Reprogramming of Human Fibroblasts to Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. Stem Cells, 2016. **34**(5): p. 1198-212.

103. Nishina, H., T. Wada, and T. Katada, *Physiological roles of SAPK/JNK signaling pathway*. J Biochem, 2004. **136**(2): p. 123-6.

104. Klotz, L.O., et al., Activation of JNK and p38 but not ERK MAP kinases in human skin cells by 5aminolevulinate-photodynamic therapy. Cancer Res, 1998. 58(19): p. 4297-300.

105. Wu, R.W., et al., *Photodynamic therapy (PDT) - Initiation of apoptosis via activation of stress-activated p38 MAPK and JNK signal pathway in H460 cell lines.* Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 2011. **8**(3): p. 254-63.

106. Chen, H.M., et al., 5-aminolevulinic acid induce apoptosis via NF-kappaB/JNK pathway in human oral cancer Ca9-22 cells. J Oral Pathol Med, 2011. **40**(6): p. 483-9.

107. Vantieghem, A., et al., *Phosphorylation of Bcl-2 in G2/M phase-arrested cells following photodynamic therapy with hypericin involves a CDK1-mediated signal and delays the onset of apoptosis.* J Biol Chem, 2002. **277**(40): p. 37718-31. 108. Kam, A.Y., A.S. Chan, and Y.H. Wong, *Phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase is distinctively required for mu-, but not kappa-opioid receptor-induced activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase.* J Neurochem, 2004. **89**(2): p. 391-402.

109. Melief, E.J., et al., *Ligand-directed c-Jun N-terminal kinase activation disrupts opioid receptor signaling*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(25): p. 11608-13.

110. Yamamoto, K., H. Ichijo, and S.J. Korsmeyer, *BCL-2 is phosphorylated and inactivated by an ASK1/Jun N*terminal protein kinase pathway normally activated at *G(2)/M*. Mol Cell Biol, 1999. **19**(12): p. 8469-78.

111. Tzifi, F., et al., *The Role of BCL2 Family of Apoptosis Regulator Proteins in Acute and Chronic Leukemias*. Adv Hematol, 2012. **2012**: p. 524308.

112. Ruvolo, P.P., X. Deng, and W.S. May, *Phosphorylation of Bel2 and regulation of apoptosis*. Leukemia, 2001. **15**(4): p. 515-22.

113. Ruvolo, P.P., et al., A functional role for mitochondrial protein kinase Calpha in Bcl2 phosphorylation and suppression of apoptosis. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(39): p. 25436-42.

114. Mai, H., et al., *A functional role for nicotine in Bcl2 phosphorylation and suppression of apoptosis.* J Biol Chem, 2003. 278(3): p. 1886-91.

115. May, W.S., et al., Interleukin-3 and bryostatin-1 mediate hyperphosphorylation of BCL2 alpha in association with suppression of apoptosis. J Biol Chem, 1994. **269**(43): p. 26865-70.

116. Ito, T., et al., *Bcl-2 phosphorylation required for anti-apoptosis function*. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(18): p. 11671-3.

117. Haldar, S., A. Basu, and C.M. Croce, Serine-70 is one of the critical sites for drug-induced Bcl2 phosphorylation in cancer cells. Cancer Res, 1998. **58**(8): p. 1609-15.

118. Blagosklonny, M.V., et al., Taxol-induced apoptosis and phosphorylation of Bcl-2 protein involves c-Raf-1 and represents a novel c-Raf-1 signal transduction pathway. Cancer Res, 1996. 56(8): p. 1851-4.

119. Haldar, S., N. Jena, and C.M. Croce, *Inactivation of Bcl-2 by phosphorylation*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. **92**(10): p. 4507-11.

120. Haldar, S., J. Chintapalli, and C.M. Croce, *Taxol induces bcl-2 phosphorylation and death of prostate cancer cells*. Cancer Res, 1996. **56**(6): p. 1253-5.

121. Blagosklonny, M.V., et al., Raf-1/bcl-2 phosphorylation: a step from microtubule damage to cell death. Cancer Res, 1997. **57**(1): p. 130-5.

ABBREVIATIONS

Abbreviation	Full name
5-ALA-PDT	5-Aminolevulinic acid - photodynamic therapy
ABCG2	ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily G Member 2
АК	Actinic keratosis
BCC	Basal cell carcinoma
BCL2	B-cell lymphoma-2
BCLxL	B-cell lymphoma-extra large
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CCK-8	Cell Counting Kit-8
CCL-8	C-C motif chemokine ligand 8
CXCL13	chemokine C-X-C motif ligand 13
FDA	Food and drug administration
HGGs	High-grade gliomas
IL	Interleukin
iPDT	Interstitial photodynamic therapy
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
MFI	Mean Fluorescence Intensity
МОР	Mu pioid receptor
OPRM1	Opioid receptor mu 1
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
PpIX	Protoporphyrin IX
RIP3	Receptor-interacting protein 3
SCC	squamous cell carcinoma
SAPK	Stress activated protein kinase pathway

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is my great honor that I have the chance to learn in Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität (LMU) München with an outstanding team led by Prof. Dr. Ronald Sroka.

Initially, I want to thank my supervisor Prof. Dr. Ronald Sroka for offering me the opportunity to work at the LIFE Centre of the LMU Klinikum as a doctoral student. I will never forget the memory that Prof. Dr. Ronald Sroka picked me up at the International Airport when I arrived Munich for the first time. He taught me how to do the scientific researches as well as how to be a better man in the life. I learned a lot by doing the research works, attending the conferences and organizing the activities under his guidance. I really like the summer seminar hold by LIFE Centre very much. Thank Prof. Dr. Ronald Sroka and his team for everything they did for me. Moreover, Prof. Dr. Ronald Sroka makes Chinese students really like Germany and builds a bridge of friendship between Chinese and German.

Secondly, I would like to thank Prof. Xiuli Wang, who encouraged me to study at LMU and provide me a good condition for the study. She is my teacher who led me to the path of scientific research. She guided me to perform and investigate the ALA-PDT for skin diseases. She also showed me the way how to be a respectful dermatologist by example. She always works hard and encourages us to explore the problems encountered in clinical medicine. It is my great honor that I am one of her students.

Furthermore, I also would like to thank my co-supervisors Dr. Herbert Stepp and PD Dr. rer. nat. Heike Pohla for their guidance on my experiments. They were always there for discussing the results and analyzing the questions with me. I would like to thank Adrian Rühm, Wolfgang Zimmermann, Alexander Buchner, Thomas Pongratz, and Birgit Stadlbauer for their excellent support and guide for my research work. I am also sincerely grateful for Kornelia Eberle, Christian Homann, Georg Hennig, Max Eisel, Christian Heckl, Max Aumiller Christian Freymüller, Stephan Ströbl, Linglin Zhang, Mingqian Li, Lili Wang, Chen Lyu, Qingfeng Yu, Xiaolong Wang, Bingsheng Li, Ruixiao Wang, Monika Danneil, Martin and all persons kindly to me for their help and care during I studied and lived in Munich.

In addition, I want to give my deepest gratitude to my parents, my wife, my sons, all my families and friends. Thank them for their supporting to my study.

At last, I would like to thank Chinese Scholarship Council for supporting my study in Germany.

Because all of you, I can finally finish my study at LMU. I will work hard as always in the future to return your supports.

EIDESSTATTLICHE VERSICHERUNG

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt,

dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Thema

In-vitro investigation of the impact of methadone on 5-ALA-PDT

selbständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

Shanghai, 18.11.2021 Ort, Datum Lei Shi Unterschrift Doktorand